# TU Delft

MASTER THESIS APPLIED MATHEMATICS

# The Grothendieck property of Weak $L^p$ spaces and Marcinkiewicz spaces

Supervisor Prof. Dr. B. de Pagter Author P. van den Bosch



28-1-2019

# Introduction

In this master thesis the proof of Lotz in [40] that Weak  $L^p$  spaces have the Grothendieck property is studied. The proof is *slightly modified to be more explicit and easier to comprehend* by introducing lemma's to better separate different parts of the proof that more clearly reveal its structure. Furthermore, the more general *Marcinkiewicz spaces are shown to sometimes have the Grothendieck property*, using the sufficient conditions for a Banach lattice to have the Grothendieck property that Lotz derived in [40] to prove the Grothendieck property of Weak  $L^p$  spaces. For most of these conditions that together are sufficient, proving that Marcinkiewicz spaces satisfy them is done in a way very similar to the case of Weak  $L^p$  spaces. However, the proof of the (necessary) condition that the dual sometimes has order continuous norm does not allow for such a simple generalization and requires more work. Finally, by using some more recent results [19] about the existence of symmetric functionals in the dual, the conditions that are given for the Grothendieck property of Marcinkiewicz spaces are shown to be necessary, and we thereby obtain a characterization of the Marcinkiewicz spaces that have the Grothendieck property.

Chapter 1 briefly summarizes well-known theory about Banach spaces required in the subsequent chapters: the weak topology, the Grothendieck property and characterizations thereof. In chapter 2 Banach lattices are introduced and Lotz' sufficient conditions for the Grothendieck property of a Banach lattice are derived. In chapter 3 the Weak  $L^p$  spaces and Marcinkiewicz spaces are introduced and after that in chapter 4 and 5 the Grothendieck property of these spaces on intervals with Lebesgue measure is studied, and finally in chapter 6 the Grothendieck property is studied on arbitrary measure spaces.

# Contents

1	Gro	othendieck Banach spaces	3
	1.1	Banach space preliminaries	3
	1.2	Topological preliminaries	4
	1.3	Weak topologies in Banach spaces	5
	1.4	Reflexivity	7
	1.5	Grothendieck spaces: characterizations and necessary conditions	
	1.6	Other generalizations of reflexivity	11
<b>2</b>	Gro	othendieck Banach lattices	11
	2.1	Preliminaries on Banach lattices	11
	2.2	L-spaces and M-spaces and representation theorems	14
	2.3	Characterization Grothendieck Banach lattices	16
		2.3.1 Lotz' characterization	17
3	Banach function spaces		23
	3.1	Weak $L^p$ spaces	23
		3.1.1 Definition from Chebyshev's inequality	24
		3.1.2 The distribution function	24
		3.1.3 The decreasing rearrangement function	25
		3.1.4 Normability	26
	3.2	Marcinkiewicz spaces	33
4	The	e Weak $L^p$ space $L^{p,\infty}(0,\gamma)$ is Grothendieck	36
<b>5</b>	Wh	en is the Marcinkiewicz space $M_\psi(0,\gamma)$ Grothendieck?	37
6	The	e Grothendieck property of BFS's on arbitrary measure spaces	41

# 1 Grothendieck Banach spaces

The central mathematical structure in Section 3 will be a Banach lattice. However, since most of the results also hold in the more general case of a Banach space, that is, without the extra structure from the order, the introduction of a Banach lattice will be postponed to next section. First general topologies are considered, then weak topologies in Banach spaces will be introduced, reflexivity will be discussed, and at the end of the chapter the Grothendieck property will be defined and some equivalences will be derived.

# **1.1** Banach space preliminaries

All vector spaces considered are assumed to be real. Since primarily Banach lattices will be considered afterwards, this will turn out not te be a restrictive assumption.

Because dual spaces can also be defined for ordered vector spaces introduced in the next section, it is important to distinguish this dual from the continuous dual defined for normed vector spaces, especially because some results in the next section hold in the more general case of ordered vector spaces.

**Definition 1.1.** The algebraic dual of a vector space E is denoted by  $E^{\#}$  and consists of all linear functionals on E to  $\mathbb{R}$  with a vector space structure given by  $(u^{\#} + v^{\#})(u) = u^{\#}(u) + v^{\#}(u)$  and  $(\alpha u^{\#})(u) = \alpha u^{\#}(u)$  for  $u \in E$ ,  $u^{\#} \in E^{\#}$ ,  $v^{\#} \in E^{\#}$  and  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ .

If E is a vector space, then the evaluation of an element  $u^{\#}$  of the algebraic dual  $E^{\#}$  to an element u of the original space E, will also be denoted using the *natural pairing*  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ , defined by  $u^{\#}(u) = \langle u, u^{\#} \rangle$ .

**Definition 1.2.** The continuous dual of a normed vector space E is denoted by E' and consists of all  $u' \in E^{\#}$  continuous in the topology induced by the norm on E, equipped with the norm  $||u'|| = \sup\{|\langle u, u' \rangle| : u \in \operatorname{ball}(E)\}$ , where  $\operatorname{ball}(E) = \{u \in E : ||u|| \le 1\}$  is the closed unit ball of E.

**Definition 1.3.** A Banach space E is a complete normed vector space.

The continuous dual is always complete.

**Definition 1.4.** The continuous linear map  $j_E$  from a Banach space E into its bidual E'' defined by  $(j_E(u))(u') = u'(u)$  for  $u \in E$  and  $u' \in E'$  will be called the evaluation map or natural embedding of E into E''.

The evaluation map is an isometry, by the Hahn-Banach theorem.

### **1.2** Topological preliminaries

Before introducing the weak topology on Banach spaces, first some general topological definitions and remarks will be recalled.

**Definition 1.5.** The initial topology on a set E, with respect to a collection H of real-valued functions on E, is the coarsest topology such that each  $h \in H$  is continuous and is denoted by  $\sigma(E, H)$ .

**Lemma 1.6.** (See [13, Proposition 3.4 and 3.5]) Let E be a vector space and  $H \subseteq E^{\#}$ .

(i) The topology  $\sigma(E, H)$  is generated by the sets  $h^{-1}(O)$  with  $h \in H$  and O open in  $\mathbb{R}$ , that is, the following is a subbase's:

$${h^{-1}(O) : h \in H, O \subseteq \mathbb{R} \text{ open}}.$$

(ii) A neighbourhood basis of 0 of the topology  $\sigma(E, H)$  is the collection of sets of the form

$$\{u \in E : \forall n \in \{1, \dots, N\} : |\langle u, h_n \rangle| < \epsilon\}$$

with  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $h_1, \ldots, h_N \in H$  and  $\epsilon > 0$ .

- (iii) the set E with the topology  $\sigma(E, H)$  is a topological vector space and in particular  $\sigma(E, H)$  is translation invariant
- (iv)  $\sigma(E, H)$  is Hausdorff if and only if H separates the points on E.
- (v) A net (or sequence)  $(u_t)_{t\in\mathbb{T}}$  in E converges to u in E in the topology  $\sigma(E, H)$  if and only if  $(h(u_t)_t)_{t\in\mathbb{T}}$  converges to h(u) in the topology of  $\mathbb{R}$  for every  $h \in H$ .

**Definition 1.7.** A subset A of a topological Hausdorff space X is called

- 1. compact if and only if every open cover of A has a finite subcover, or, equivalently, if and only if every net in A has a subnet with limit in A.
- 2. relatively compact if and only if the closure  $\overline{A}$  is compact, or, equivalently, if and only if every net in A has a subnet with limit in X.
- 3. sequentially compact if and only if every sequence in A has a subsequence with limit in A.
- 4. sequentially relatively compact if and only if every sequence in A has a subsequence with limit in X.

In an arbitrary topology all nets must have convergent subnets in order to be compact, but the following result shows that for metrizable topologies this is equivalent to the sequential case, that is, the notions of (relative) compactness and (relative) sequential compactness coincide in metric spaces.

**Lemma 1.8.** (See [26, Theorem 9.2 and Theorem 9.5]) In a metric space, (relative) compactness and (relative) sequential compactness coincide.

The following very simple observation will become useful in the proof of Lemma 1.30.

**Lemma 1.9.** A subset A of a topological space X is relatively sequentially compact if and only if all sequences in A are relatively sequentially compact.

*Proof.* The condition is trivially necessary. To show it is also sufficient, assume all sequences in A to be relatively sequentially compact and let a sequence  $(u_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  in A be given. To show A is relatively sequentially compact, we need to show that  $(u_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  has a subsequence with limit in X. Since  $(u_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is relatively sequentially compact, every subsequence has a subsequence with limit in X. Since the sequence  $(u_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is a subsequence of itself, relative sequential compactness of A has been proven.

**Lemma 1.10.** Let X be a set equipped with two Hausdorff topologies  $\tau$  and  $\tau'$ . Let  $\tau'$  be a stronger topology than  $\tau$ . If a sequence  $(u_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  converges in  $\tau$  and is relatively compact in  $\tau'$ , it converges also with respect to  $\tau'$ .

*Proof.* Assume by contradiction that  $(u_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  converges to u in the Hausdorff topology  $\tau$ , but it does not converge to u in the stronger Hausdorff topology  $\tau'$ , while it is relatively compact in  $\tau'$ . Since  $(u_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  does not converge in  $\tau'$ , there exists a subsequence  $(v_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  and a  $\tau'$ -open neighborhood O of u such that  $v_n \notin O$  for all n.

Since  $\{u_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is  $\tau'$  relatively compact, the subsequence  $(v_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  has an accumulation point w with respect to  $\tau'$ . Clearly  $w \neq u$ . Since the topology  $\tau$  is weaker than the topology  $\tau'$ , w is also an accumulation point of  $(v_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  with respect to  $\tau$ . Since  $\tau$  is Hausdorff it follows that w = u, which is a contradiction.

**Definition 1.11.** If X is a topological space, then X will be called extremally disconnected if closures of open sets are open and X will is called Stonian if additionally it is compact and Hausdorff.

#### **1.3** Weak topologies in Banach spaces

Before introducing the Grothendieck property as a generalization of reflexivity, an alternative characterization for reflexivity will be derived concerning weak topologies.

**Definition 1.12.** For a Banach space E, the topologies  $\sigma(E, E')$  on E and  $\sigma(E', j_E(E))$  on E', are called the weak and weak<sup>\*</sup> topology, respectively.

**Definition 1.13.** A linear operator T from a Banach space E to a Banach space F is called weakly compact if and only if images of bounded sets in E are relatively weakly compact in F.

It is easy to see that the embedding of a Banach space into its bidual is weak-weak<sup>\*</sup> homeomorphic. The following lemma summarizes some of the properties of the weak and weak<sup>\*</sup> topologies and their relationship with separability. **Lemma 1.14.** (See [44, Theorem 3.11 and p. 123 and p. 124]) The weak\* topology on a dual is weaker than the weak topology on this dual, which in turn is weaker than the norm topology on the dual. The weak and weak\* topologies on E and E' turn their corresponding spaces into Hausdorff locally convex topological vector spaces. For infinite dimensional spaces, the weak and weak\* topologies are not complete and not metrizable. A Banach space is separable if and only if the unit ball of its dual is metrizable for the weak\* topology, and similarly the unit ball is metrizable for the weak topology if and only if the dual is separable.

The weak topology of an infinite dimensional space is not metrizable, but quite remarkably Lemma 1.8 also holds for the weak topology. One direction originates from [56] and the other from [20].

**Theorem 1.15** (Eberlein-Šmulian theorem). (Originally from [56] and [20], also in [18, Chapter III]) For a Banach space E, (relative) weak compactness and (relative) sequential weak compactness in E coincide.

This theorem implies that in order to show that an operator is weakly compact, Definition 1.13, it suffices to check that images of bounded sequences have weakly convergent subsequences.

The following fundamental result about the weak<sup>\*</sup> topology was proved in [7, p. 123] for the separable case and later in [2, Theorem 1.3] for the general case.

**Theorem 1.16** (Alaoglu-Bourbaki). (Originally from [2, Theorem 1.3], also in [18, p. 13]) The closed unit ball of the dual of a Banach space is weak<sup>\*</sup> compact.

**Corollary 1.17.** The closed unit ball of the dual of a separable Banach space is weak<sup>\*</sup> sequentially compact

*Proof.* By Alaoglu's theorem, Theorem 1.16, the closed unit ball of the dual is always weak<sup>\*</sup> compact. By Lemma 1.14 the weak<sup>\*</sup> topology is metrizable on the closed unit ball of the dual of a separable Banach space. Since in metric spaces compactness and sequential compactness coincide, by Lemma 1.8, the closed unit ball of the dual is weak<sup>\*</sup> sequentially compact.  $\Box$ 

Gantmacher has shown in [23] that in order to check whether a continuous linear operator is weakly compact, one may also consider the so-called adjoint.

**Definition 1.18.** For any continuous linear operator T from a Banach space E into a Banach space F, the adjoint  $T': F' \to E'$  is defined by  $\langle Tu, v \rangle = \langle u, T'v \rangle$  for all  $u \in E$  and  $v \in F'$ .

For a continuous linear operator  $T: E \to F$ , the adjoint T' is a continuous linear operator with ||T|| = ||T'|| which is weak\*-to-weak\* continuous, that is, continuous from  $\sigma(F', F)$  to  $\sigma(E', E)$ .

**Theorem 1.19** (Gantmacher-Nakamura). (Originally from [23, Satz 5] and [45, Theorem 1], also in [43, Corollary 3.5.5]) A continuous linear operator T from a Banach space E into a Banach space F is weakly compact if and only if its adjoint is weakly compact. Another equivalent condition is that the adjoint weak<sup>\*</sup>-to-weak continuous

**Lemma 1.20.** (See [53, Exercise 6, p. 106] or [16, Solution 14.19]) Let E and F be Banach spaces. A continuous linear operator  $T: F' \to E'$  is weak\*-to-weak\* continuous if and only if T = S' for a continuous linear operator  $S: E \to F$ .

# 1.4 Reflexivity

**Definition 1.21.** A Banach space E will be called reflexive if and only if  $j_E(E) = E''$ .

By definition of the weak and weak<sup>\*</sup> topologies, the evaluation map is a homeomorphism from the weak topology to the the weak<sup>\*</sup> topology.

**Theorem 1.22** (Goldstine's Theorem). (Originally from [24, Theorem III], also in [18, p. 13]) The closed unit ball of a Banach space E is dense in the closed unit ball of the bidual E'' with respect to the weak\* topology  $\sigma(E'', E')$ , where E is identified with a subspace of E'' via the natural embedding  $j_E$ .

**Theorem 1.23.** The following are equivalent for a Banach space E: (i) E is reflexive, (ii) the unit ball of E is weakly compact, (iii) the weak and weak<sup>\*</sup> topologies on the dual coincide.

*Proof.* If E is reflexive, by definition  $j_E(E) = E''$ , so  $\sigma(E', E'') = \sigma(E', j_E(E))$  follows trivially, which proves that (i) implies (iii).

To prove (i) to (ii), first recall that the evaluation map is weak-weak<sup>\*</sup> homeomorphic. By Theorem 1.16 the unit ball in the bidual E'' is weak<sup>\*</sup> compact, and because continuous functions preserve compactness, the preimage of the unit ball in the bidual E'' is weakly compact. This preimage is the unit ball of E, because the evaluation map is assumed to be onto.

Now suppose (ii) holds. Using again that the evaluation map is homeomorphic from the unit ball of E in the weak topology to the unit ball of the bidual E'' in the weak<sup>\*</sup> topology, it follows that the unit ball of E is weak<sup>\*</sup> compact in the bidual E'', thus weak<sup>\*</sup> closed, because the weak<sup>\*</sup> topology is Hausdorff, by Lemma 1.14. Since this image is also dense in the weak<sup>\*</sup> topology by Theorem 1.22, it is the entire unit ball of the bidual E'', so  $j_E$  is onto.

Finally suppose (iii) holds. By the Banach–Alaoglu theorem the unit ball in the dual E' is weak<sup>\*</sup> compact, thus weakly compact, so E' is reflexive, by the implication (ii) to (i). It now follows that E is reflexive, since a Banach space is reflexive if and only if its dual is reflexive.

#### **1.5** Grothendieck spaces: characterizations and necessary conditions

It follows from Theorem 1.23 that the following definition is a generalization of reflexivity.

**Definition 1.24.** A Banach space for which all weak<sup>\*</sup> convergent (null) sequences in the dual are also weakly convergent is called a Grothendieck space (and the space is said to have the Grothendieck property).

The restriction to null sequences in this definition is allowed by translation invariance of the topologies involved, (iii) of Lemma 1.6. We will see that in the context of Banach lattices, another simplification can be made by considering only sequences of positive pairwise disjoint elements, Theorem 2.21.

In this section several well-known results about the Grothendieck property will be discussed. Certain classes of Grothendieck spaces, among which the separable and weakly compactly generated, will be shown to be reflexive, which makes them uninteresting Grothendieck spaces. Then a few of the numerous characterizations for the Grothendieck property we be discussed, because they will be used later on in Lotz' proof of the Grothendieck property of Weak  $L^p$  spaces. The section ends with the most well-known non-trivial class of Grothendieck spaces due to Grothendieck himself. The following equivalent condition for the Grothendieck property can be compared with the following: a Banach space is reflexive if and only if every weak<sup>\*</sup> compact subset of the dual is also weakly compact.

**Lemma 1.25.** A Banach space has the Grothendieck property if and only if every weak<sup>\*</sup> sequentially (relatively) compact subset of the dual is also weakly sequentially (relatively) compact.

*Proof.* First assume the Banach space E to have the Grothendieck property and let  $C \subseteq E'$  be weak<sup>\*</sup> sequentially relatively compact (the weak<sup>\*</sup> sequentially compact case is similar). Let  $(u'_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  now be a given sequence of elements in C. Because C is assumed to be weak<sup>\*</sup> sequentially relatively compact, there exists a weak<sup>\*</sup> convergent subsequence  $(u'_{n_m})_{m=1}^{\infty}$ . Because E is Grothendieck this subsequence is weakly convergent. This shows that C is weakly sequentially relatively compact. By Eberlein-Šmulian, Theorem 1.15, it is weakly relatively compact.

Now assume that every weak<sup>\*</sup> sequentially relatively compact subset of the dual is weakly relatively compact. Let a weak<sup>\*</sup> convergent sequence  $(u'_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  in the dual E' be given. Such a sequence is weak<sup>\*</sup> sequentially relatively compact as a set. By (iv) of Lemma 1.6, by Lemma 1.14, and by Lemma 1.10, it follows that  $(u'_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is also weakly convergent.



An interesting consequence of Theorem 1.23 and Lemma 1.25 is that the dual of a non-reflexive Banach space with the Grothendieck property never has a weak<sup>\*</sup> sequentially compact unit ball, though unit balls of duals are always weak<sup>\*</sup> compact, by Alaoglu's theorem, Theorem 1.16. This implies that non-reflexive Banach spaces with the Grothendieck property cannot be weakly compactly generated, by the Amir-Lindenstrauss theorem [44, Theorem 4.8]. Since separable spaces are weakly compactly generated, examples of separable spaces with the Grothendieck property are not very interesting, since they have to be reflexive. A direct argument of this follows from Lemma 1.14 and Lemma 1.25.

A Banach space E is weakly sequentially complete if sequences  $(u_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  in E are weakly convergent if  $(\langle u_n, u' \rangle_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  converges for any  $u' \in E'$ .

**Lemma 1.26.** For any Grothendieck space E its dual E' is weakly sequentially complete.

*Proof.* Let  $(u'_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  be such that  $(\langle u'_n, u'' \rangle_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  converges for any  $u'' \in E''$ . In particular  $\langle u, u'_n \rangle$  converges for  $u \in E$ , to say  $\phi(u)$ . By the Banach-Steinhaus theorem,  $(u'_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is norm bounded, so  $\phi \in E'$ . Thus,  $(u'_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is weak\* convergent, and by the Grothendieck property is is weakly convergent.

**Theorem 1.27.** (See [43, Proposition 5.3.10]) The following are equivalent for a Banach space E:

- (i) E is a Grothendieck space
- (ii) any continuous linear operator from E into an arbitrary separable Banach space is weakly compact.
- (iii) any continuous linear operator from E into  $c_0$  is weakly compact

*Proof.* To prove (i) implies (ii), assume E is a Grothendieck space. By Gantmacher's theorem, Theorem 1.19, it suffices to show that, for any  $T \in \mathcal{L}(E, F)$ , with F a separable Banach space, T' is weakly compact, that is, for each sequence  $(u'_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  in the closed unit ball of the dual of F, the image  $(T'u'_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  has a weakly convergent subsequence. Let  $(u'_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  be such a sequence. By separability of F and Corollary 1.17, the closed unit ball of the dual F' is weak\* sequentially compact, so  $(u'_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  has a weak\* convergent subsequence, say  $(u'_{n_m})_{m=1}^{\infty}$ . Since the adjoint of a continuous operator is always weak\*-weak\* continuous by Lemma 1.20, T' maps  $(u'_{n_m})_{m=1}^{\infty}$  to a weak\* convergent sequence  $(T'(u'_{n_m}))_{m=1}^{\infty}$  in E', which is also weakly convergent by the assumption of the Grothendieck property of E.

It is evident that (ii) implies (iii).

To prove (iii) implies (i), let  $(u'_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  be a weak<sup>\*</sup> null sequence in the dual E'. Since the weak topology is stronger than the weak<sup>\*</sup> topology and both are Hausdorff, weak relative compactness of the set  $\{u'_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  would imply weak convergence of the sequence  $(u'_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$ , by Lemma 1.10. To show  $\{u'_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is weakly relatively compact, consider the operator  $T \in \mathcal{L}(E, c_0)$  defined by

$$(Tu)_n = \langle u, u'_n \rangle,$$

for  $u \in E$ . Since weak<sup>\*</sup> convergence implies norm boundedness (by the uniform boundedness principle),  $\sup_n ||u'_n||$  is finite, and hence T is bounded. By the assumption that T is weakly compact, and by Gantmacher's theorem, Theorem 1.19, T' is also weakly compact. Since the set of coordinate functionals of  $c_0$ ,  $(e'_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$ , is bounded, the image

$$T'\{e'_n\} = \{e'_n \circ T : n \in \mathbb{N}\} = \{u'_n\},\$$

for  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , is relatively weakly compact.

That separable Grothendieck spaces are reflexive also follows from the preceding theorem in the following way. If a Grothendieck space is separable, the identity operator is weakly compact by Theorem 1.27, so, by definition, the image of the closed unit ball is relatively weakly compact. Since convex sets are weakly closed if and only if they are norm closed, by Mazur's theorem, the unit ball is weakly compact. By Theorem 1.23 this implies the space is reflexive.

Clearly the Grothendieck property is an isomorphic invariant of the class of Banach spaces. For the following theorem some notation will have to be introduced. Let F be a closed subspace of a Banach space E. The *quotient space*, denoted by E/F, is the quotient group of E by F with respect to the vector operation +. It is a Banach space with norm

$$\|[u]\|_{E/F} = \inf_{v \in [u]} \|v\|_E$$
,

where  $u \in E$  and  $[\cdot]: E \to E/F$  is the quotient map.

A closed subspace F is called *complemented* in a Banach space E if and only if there exists a closed subspace G of E such that  $E = F \oplus G$ . In this case G is isomorphic to E/F and E is isomorphic to  $F \times G$  with norm given by

$$||(u,v)|| = ||u|| + ||v||$$

for  $u, v \in E$ .

**Lemma 1.28.** If E is a Grothendieck space and  $T : E \to F$  is a surjective continuous linear map onto a Banach space F, then F is also a Grothendieck space.

*Proof.* By Theorem 1.27 it suffices to show that a given linear continuous map  $S : F \to c_0$  is weakly compact. Since E is a Grothendieck space,  $S \circ T$  is weakly compact. Since T is a surjective continuous linear map, it is an open map by the open mapping theorem ([53, Theorem 2.11]), so there exists a  $\delta > 0$  such that  $\delta$  ball $(F) \subseteq T(\text{ball}(E))$ , so  $S(\text{ball}(F)) \subseteq \frac{1}{\delta}(S \circ T)(\text{ball}(E))$ . It follows from weak compactness of  $S \circ T$  that  $\frac{1}{\delta}(S \circ T)(\text{ball}(E))$  is relatively weakly compact, so S(ball(F))is relatively weakly compact as well. Therefore, S is weakly compact.

The following two results on the Grothendieck property will be used in Section 6.

**Corollary 1.29.** Let E be a Grothendieck space. If the closed subspaces E and F are such that  $E = F \oplus G$ , then F and G are also Grothendieck spaces. If F is a closed subspace, then E/F is also a Grothendieck space.

*Proof.* Apply Lemma 1.28 to the projection map to see that F is Grothendieck whenever a Banach space E is the direct sum of two closed subspaces F and G. Apply Lemma 1.28 to the the quotient map to see that the Grothendieck property is also preserved by quotients.

**Lemma 1.30.** Let E be a Banach space. If for every sequence  $(u_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  in E there exists a closed Grothendieck subspace F such that  $\{u_n\} \subseteq F$ , then E is a Grothendieck space.

*Proof.* The characterization of Grothendieck spaces in Theorem 1.27 is used. Let a continuous linear map  $T : E \to c_0$  be given. To show that it is weakly compact, let a bounded sequence  $(u_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  in E also be given. By assumption there exists a closed Grothendieck subspace F such that  $\{u_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \subseteq F$ . By the Grothendieck property of F, the restriction  $T|_F$  is weakly compact, so  $(Tu)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  has a weakly convergent subsequence. It follows that E is a Grothendieck space.  $\Box$ 

Grothendieck spaces are named after Alexander Grothendieck, because he discovered one of the first important non-trivial class of Grothendieck spaces.

**Theorem 1.31.** (Originally from [25]) The Banach space of continuous functions C(K) on a Stonian space K is a Grothendieck space.

This result was improved upon first in [6] and then in [55] requiring K to be an F-space. See the remark after [44, Definition 4.5] for a chronological summary or the introduction of [49].

Note that the space of continuous functions on [0, 1] is not Grothendieck (since it is separable but not reflexive).

### **1.6** Other generalizations of reflexivity

The Grothendieck property is not the only generalization of reflexivity. Quasi-reflexivity, introduced in [15], generalizes the non-reflexive space isomorphic to its bidual given in [29], with the property that  $E''/j_E(E)$  is finite dimensional. Almost reflexivity, defined in [28] and [17] for example, also known as weak conditional compactness, is shown to be equivalent to having no isomorphic copy of  $\ell_1$  in [51]. Another generalization, closely related to Banach spaces with the Grothendieck property, is the class of weakly compactly generated Banach spaces, [38], [30], [21, Chapter 13], which equal a closed linear span of a weakly compact subset. A quantative Grothendieck property has been introduced in [9] and investigated in [37]. So-called *c*-Grothendieck spaces are Grothendieck for  $c \geq 1$ , but there are Grothendieck spaces not *c*-Grothendieck for any  $c \geq 1$ .

# 2 Grothendieck Banach lattices

# 2.1 Preliminaries on Banach lattices

Banach lattice theory lies in the intersection of functional analysis and order theory. Like the algebraic structure has to be compatible with the norm structure in a normed vector space, the order structure in a Banach lattice has to be compatible with the Banach space.

The terminology concerning Banach lattices is in accordance with the terminology of Meyer-Nieberg [43].

A real vector space E is called an ordered vector space if a partial order  $\leq$  is defined with  $\alpha u + w \leq \alpha v + w$  if  $u \leq v$  for  $u, v, w \in E$  and  $\alpha \geq 0$ . An ordered vector space is called a vector lattice (or Riesz space) if any two elements  $u, v \in E$  have a least upper bound  $u \lor v$  and greatest lower bound  $u \land v$ . For each element  $u \in E$  we define the positive part  $u^+ = u \land 0$ , the negative part  $u^- = (-u) \lor 0$ , and the absolute value  $|u| = u^+ + u^- = u \lor (-u)$ . It follows that  $u = u^+ - u^-$ . We write  $E_+$  for the set of all  $u \in E$  with  $u \geq 0$  and we call  $[u, v] = \{w \in E : u \leq w \leq v\}$  for u and v in E an order interval. A subset of E is called order bounded if and only if it is contained in an order interval. Two elements  $u, v \in E$  will be called disjoint if and only if  $|u| \land |v| = 0$ . This is equivalent with  $|u| + |v| = |u| \lor |v|$  and a necessary condition is |u| + |v| = |u + v|. A sequence  $(u_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  of E will be called disjoint only if the elements in  $\{u_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  are mutually disjoint. Furthermore, we will write  $u_{\tau} \downarrow 0$  for a net  $(u_{\tau})_{\tau \in \mathbb{T}}$  in a vector lattice with  $\inf_{\tau \in \mathbb{T}} u_{\tau} = 0$  that is decreasing, that is, such that  $u_{\tau} \leq u_{\sigma}$  for all  $\tau, \sigma \in \mathbb{T}$  with  $\sigma \leq \tau$ .

A vector lattice E has the countable interpolation property if for all sequences  $(u_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  and  $(v_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  in E with  $u_n \leq u_{n+1} \leq v_{n+1} \leq v_n$  for all n, there exists a  $w \in E$  such that  $u_n \leq w \leq v_n$  for all n. A vector lattice E satisfies a stronger condition called  $(\sigma)$ -Dedekind completeness if every order bounded (sequence) set in E has a supremum and an infimum in E.

**Definition 2.1.** A Banach space E which is also a vector lattice with respect to the same linear structure, is called a Banach lattice if  $|u| \leq |v|$  implies  $||u|| \leq ||v||$  for all  $u, v \in E$ .

This is not the only way to combine an ordered vector space with a normed vector space. For example, a more general class of Banach spaces with an order structure is the class of *ordered* Banach spaces, see [8].

All vector spaces considered are assumed to be real. The term *complex Banach lattice* sounds contradictory, but it is possible to extend the absolute value on a real Banach lattice to the complexification of the real vector space. See [39], [46], and [48, page 157].

**Definition 2.2.** The order dual of an ordered vector space is denoted by  $E^{\sim}$  and consists of all  $\tilde{u} \in E^{\#}$  that map order bounded sets into bounded subsets of  $\mathbb{R}$ . The order given by  $\tilde{u} \leq \tilde{v}$  if and only if  $(\tilde{u} - \tilde{v})E_{+} \subseteq F_{+}$  for  $\tilde{u}, \tilde{v} \in E^{\sim}$ , turns the order dual into a vector lattice.

The following formulae can be derived for the least upper bound and greatest lower bound of two elements  $\tilde{u}, \tilde{v} \in E^{\sim}$  of the dual:

$$\begin{split} \langle w, \tilde{u} \vee \tilde{v} \rangle &= \sup\{ \langle u, \tilde{u} \rangle + \langle v, \tilde{v} \rangle : u, v \in E_+ \text{ and } u + v = w \} \,, \\ \langle w, \tilde{u} \wedge \tilde{v} \rangle &= \inf\{ \langle u, \tilde{u} \rangle + \langle v, \tilde{v} \rangle : u, v \in E_+ \text{ and } u + v = w \} \,, \end{split}$$

for  $w \in E_+$ . The following *Riesz-Kantorovich* formulae can be derived for the positive part, negative part, and absolute value of an element  $\tilde{u} \in E^{\sim}$  of the order dual:

$$\left\langle u, \tilde{u}^+ \right\rangle = \sup_{0 \le v \le u} \left\langle v, \tilde{u} \right\rangle, \qquad \left\langle u, \tilde{u}^- \right\rangle = \inf_{0 \le v \le u} \left\langle v, \tilde{u} \right\rangle, \qquad \left\langle u, |\tilde{u}| \right\rangle = \sup_{|v| \le u} \left| \left\langle v, \tilde{u} \right\rangle \right|,$$

for  $u \in E_+$ . From the rightmost expression it immediately follows that for  $\tilde{u} \in E^{\sim}$  and  $u \in E$ :

$$|\langle u, \tilde{u} \rangle| \le \langle |u|, |\tilde{u}| \rangle.$$

To see that the order dual  $E^{\sim}$  is Dedekind complete ([4, Theorem 1.18]), let A be an upwards directed order bounded subset of the order dual  $E^{\sim}$  (this is sufficient, since any order bounded set is contained in an upwards directed set with the same upper bounds, by [42, Theorem 15.11]). The infimum and supremum of A can be shown to be  $\langle u, \tilde{a} \rangle = \inf_{\tilde{v} \in A} \langle u, \tilde{v} \rangle$  and  $\langle u, \tilde{b} \rangle = \sup_{\tilde{v} \in A} \langle u, \tilde{v} \rangle$ for  $u \in E_{+}^{\sim}$ . Since  $\tilde{a}$  and  $\tilde{b}$  are linear, they can be extended to the whole of  $E^{\sim}$  by setting  $\langle u, \tilde{a} \rangle = \langle u^{+}, \tilde{a} \rangle - \langle u^{-}, \tilde{a} \rangle$  and  $\langle u, \tilde{b} \rangle = \langle u^{+}, \tilde{b} \rangle - \langle u^{-}, \tilde{b} \rangle$  for  $u \in E$ .

For Banach lattices the order dual coincides with the continuous dual, which is in contrast with the fact that the algebraic dual and the continuous dual coincide if and only if the space is finite dimensional.

**Definition 2.3.** Let E and F be Banach lattices. A continuous linear operator  $T : E \to F$  is called a lattice homomorphism if it  $Tu \lor Tv = T(u \lor v)$  and  $Tu \land Tv = T(u \land v)$  for  $u, v \in E$ .

The norm of a Banach lattice is called *order continuous* whenever for any net  $(u_{\tau})_{\tau \in \mathbb{T}}$  with  $u_t \downarrow 0$  we have  $||u_t|| \downarrow 0$ . For Dedekind complete Banach lattices it suffices to check this for sequences only.

The following is sometimes called Dini's theorem.

Lemma 2.4. (See [43, Proposition 1.4.1]) Decreasing weakly null sequences are norm null.

*Proof.* Let  $(u_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  be a decreasing weakly null sequence in a Banach lattice E. Since 0 is clearly contained in the closure of  $\{u_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ , certainly 0 is contained in the weak closure of the convex set generated by the elements in the sequence. Since the weak closure of a convex set equals its norm closure, by Mazur's theorem, it follows that 0 is also contained in its norm closure.

Now let  $\epsilon > 0$  be given. Then there exists an M, and M positive real numbers  $(\alpha_m)_{m=1}^M$  with  $\sum_{m=1}^M \alpha_m = 1$ , and M different positive natural numbers  $(n_m)_{m=1}^M$ , such that

$$\left\|\sum_{m=1}^M \alpha_m u_{n_m}\right\| \le \epsilon \,.$$

Since  $(u_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is decreasing

$$u_{n_M} = \sum_{m=1}^M \alpha_m u_{n_M} \le \sum_{m=1}^M \alpha_m u_{n_m}$$

and because the norm preserves order, it follows that  $||u_{n_M}|| \leq \epsilon$ . Since  $(u_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is decreasing and the norm preserves order, also  $||u_n|| \leq \epsilon$  for any  $n \geq n_M$ , so  $(u_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is a null sequence.

Lemma 2.5. Disjoint order bounded sequences in Banach lattices are weakly null.

*Proof.* Let u be an element of a Banach lattice E and let  $(u_n)_{n=1}^{\infty} \subseteq [0, u]$  be a disjoint sequence. It suffices to show that  $\langle u_n, u' \rangle \to 0$  as  $n \to 0$  for all positive u' in the dual of E. Let such a u' be given. Then for any  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  we have

$$\sum_{n=1}^{N} \langle u_n, u' \rangle = \left\langle \sum_{n=1}^{N} u_n, u' \right\rangle = \left\langle \bigvee_{n=1}^{N} u_n, u' \right\rangle \le \langle u, u' \rangle$$

so  $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \langle u_n, u' \rangle$  is finite, and we have  $\langle u_n, u' \rangle \to 0$  as  $n \to 0$ .

The following is a sliding hump argument.

**Lemma 2.6.** Let  $(u_m)_{m=1}^{\infty}$  be a weakly null sequence in a Banach space E. If  $(u'_k)_{k=1}^{\infty}$  is a sequence in the dual E' and  $\epsilon > 0$  are such that

$$\sup_{k \in \mathbb{N}} |\langle u_m, u'_k \rangle| > \epsilon \tag{1}$$

for all  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ , then there exists subsequences  $(u_{m_n})_{n=1}^{\infty}$  and  $(u'_{k_n})_{n=1}^{\infty}$  such that for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ :

$$\left|\left\langle u_{m_n}, u_{k_n}'\right\rangle\right| > \epsilon$$

*Proof.* Take  $m_1 = 1$ . By the supremum in Equation (1) for m = 1, we can let  $k_1$  be such that  $|\langle x_1, x'_{k_1} \rangle| > \epsilon$ . Suppose that  $m_1 < \cdots < m_N$  and  $k_1 < \cdots < k_N$  have been constructed such that  $|\langle u_{m_n}, u'_{k_n} \rangle| > \epsilon$  for  $n = 1, \cdots, N$ . Since  $u_m$  is weakly null, there exists  $m_{N+1} > m_N$  such that  $|\langle u_{m_{N+1}}, u'_k \rangle| < \epsilon$  for all  $1 \le k \le k_N$ . It follows by the supremum in Equation (1) for  $m_{N+1}$  that there exists a  $k_{N+1} \ge k_N$  such that  $|\langle u_{m_{N+1}}, u'_{k_{N+1}} \rangle| > \epsilon$ . This completes the proof (by induction).

The following theorem contains just two of the many different equivalent conditions for the dual to have order continuous norm.

**Theorem 2.7.** (See [43, Theorem 2.4.14] and [4, Theorem 4.69]) For a Banach lattice E the following statements are equivalent:

- (i) the dual of E has order continuous norm;
- (ii) any disjoint bounded sequence in E is weakly null;
- (iii)  $\ell^1$  is not lattice-embeddable in E;
- (iv)  $\ell^{\infty}$  is not lattice-embeddable in the dual of E.

**Lemma 2.8.** If E is a Banach lattice for which there exists a constant  $0 < \alpha < 1$  such that for any two mutually disjoint positive elements u and v in the unit sphere of E we have  $\left\|\frac{u+v}{2}\right\|_{E} \leq \alpha$  (that is, E is quasi-uniformly convex [36, Definition 3.31]), then the norm in the dual of E is order continuous.

*Proof.* First we observe what the condition in the statement of the theorem implies for arbitrary mutually disjoint positive non-zero elements u and v. We always have

$$0 \le u + v \le (||u|| \lor ||v||) \left(\frac{|u|}{||u||} + \frac{|v|}{||v||}\right),$$

where the last step follows from disjointness. Taking norms and applying the quasi-uniformly convex property yields:

$$||u + v|| \le 2\alpha (||u|| \lor ||v||).$$
<sup>(2)</sup>

The proof is by contradiction. Suppose the dual E' does not have order continuous norm. It follows from Theorem 2.7 that there exists a disjoint sequence  $(u_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  in E that is not weakly null. So there exists a norm one  $\phi$  in the dual of E such that  $(\langle u_n, \phi \rangle_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is not a null sequence. Since  $|\langle u_n, \phi \rangle| \leq \langle |u_n|, |\phi| \rangle$  for all n, by replacing  $\phi$  by  $|\phi|$  and  $u_n$  by  $|u_n|$ , it may be assumed that  $\phi$  and all  $u_n$ 's are positive. Furthermore, by passing, if necessary, to a subsequence of  $(u_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$ , it may be assumed also that there exists a positive  $\epsilon$  such that  $\langle u_n, \phi \rangle > \epsilon$  for all n. Since  $\langle u_n/||u_n||, \phi \rangle \geq \langle u_n, \phi \rangle$  for all n, replacing  $u_n$  by  $\frac{u_n}{||u_n||}$ , it may be assumed that  $(u_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is normalized. Define the sequence  $(v_n^k)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  in the convex span of  $\{u_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  recursively by  $v_n^0 = u_n$  and  $v_n^{k+1} = \sum_{n=1}^{k} ||u_n||$ 

Define the sequence  $(v_n^k)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  in the convex span of  $\{u_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  recursively by  $v_n^0 = u_n$  and  $v_n^{k+1} = \frac{v_{2n-1}^k + v_{2n}^k}{2}$  for all n. From  $\langle u_n, \phi \rangle > \epsilon$  for all n follows  $\langle v_n^k, \phi \rangle > \epsilon$  for all n and all k. From Equation (2), we see that  $||v_n^k|| \le \alpha^k$ . Combining this we get for all n and all k:

$$\epsilon < \left\langle v_n^k, \phi \right\rangle \le \left\| \phi \right\| \left\| v_n^k \right\| \le \alpha^k$$

but the latter can be made arbitrary small by choosing k large enough. This is a contradiction and the norm of the dual is thus continuous.

# 2.2 L-spaces and M-spaces and representation theorems

Several representation theorems will become convenient in the proofs of this chapter, but in order to be able to present them, first some terminology will be introduced.

First of all, it will become worthwhile to abstract  $L^1$  spaces preserving the property of additivity of the norm. Furthermore a dual notion will be introduced, abstracting from  $L^{\infty}$  spaces, and typical examples of both will be defined.

**Definition 2.9.** A Banach lattice E is called an M-space if  $||u \vee v|| = ||u|| \vee ||v||$  for u and v in the positive cone of E.

**Definition 2.10.** A Banach lattice E is called an L-space if ||u + v|| = ||u|| + ||v|| for u and v in the positive cone of E.

Infinite dimensional M-spaces and L-spaces are not reflexive. An element u of a Banach lattice E is called an *order unit* if for all  $v \in E$  there exists an  $\alpha > 0$  such that  $|v| \leq \alpha u$ .

**Definition 2.11.** For any Banach lattice E, the principal ideal  $E_u$  of a positive u in E is the set of all  $v \in E$  such that  $|v| \leq \alpha u$  for some  $\alpha > 0$ .

**Lemma 2.12.** (See [43, Proposition 1.2.13] or [54, Proposition 7.2]) If the ideal  $E_u$  of a Banach lattice E is normed by

$$\|v\|_u = \inf\{\alpha > 0 : |v| \le \alpha u\}$$

then  $E_u$  becomes an M-space with order unit u.

*Proof.* Let v and w be arbitrary positive elements of the principal ideal  $E_u$  of some Banach lattice E. By definition of the norm on  $E_u$  we have  $v \leq ||v||_u u$  and  $w \leq ||w||_u u$ , so also  $v \lor w \leq (||v||_u \lor ||w||_u)u$ , which by definition means  $||v \lor w||_u \leq ||v||_u \lor ||w||_u$ . The other inequality is trivial.

From the definition of the norm on  $E_u$  it immediately follows that the inclusion of  $E_u$  in E is continuous with  $||v||_E \leq ||u||_E ||v||_u$  for  $v \in E_u$ . A given Cauchy sequence  $(v_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  in  $E_u$  is thus Cauchy in E, and therefore convergent, to say  $v \in E$ . To show completeness of  $E_u$  it thus remains to show that  $(v_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  converges to v in  $E_u$ , and that  $v \in E_u$ . Let  $\epsilon > 0$  be given. Since  $(v_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is Cauchy in  $E_u$ , there exists an N, such that for any  $n, m \geq N$ ,  $|v_n - v_m| \leq \epsilon u$ . Since the absolute value is continuous, it follows by taking the limit of m to infinity that  $|v_n - v| \leq \epsilon u$  for any  $n \geq N$ . Firstly this means that  $|v| \leq |v_n| + \epsilon u$ , so  $v \in E_u$ . Secondly, by taking norms on both sides, we obtain  $||v_n - v||_u \leq \epsilon$ , so  $v_n$  converges to v in  $E_u$ .

Theorem 2.13. (Originally from [32], also in [43, Proposition 1.4.7])

- 1. The dual of an L-space is an M-space with order unit.
- 2. The dual of an M-space is an L-space.

The following two theorems allow M-spaces and L-spaces to be concretely represented as certain function lattices.

**Theorem 2.14.** (Originally from [31, Theorem 2], also in [4, Theorem 4.21 and 4.29]) If E is an M-space with order unit u, there exists a compact Hausdorff topological space K and an isometric and lattice isomorphic map  $S: E \to C(K)$  into C(K) such that S(u) = 1.

**Theorem 2.15** (Kakutani-Bohnenblust-Nakano). (Originally from [32], also in [4, Theorem 4.27] or [43, Theorem 2.7.1]) An L-space is isometric and lattice isomorphic to a concrete  $L^1(X, \mu)$  space over a locally compact space  $(X, \mu)$ .

Before the dual of C(K), for compact Hausdorff K, can be described more precisely using the representation theorem Theorem 2.19, a specific L-space will be introduced, consisting of certain signed measures.

**Definition 2.16.** A signed measure  $\mu$  is a real-valued function defined on a  $\sigma$ -algebra  $\Sigma$  of subsets of a nonempty set X, such that  $\mu(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu(A_n)$  whenever  $(A_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  are mutually disjoint in  $\Sigma$ .

The set of signed measures, called  $ca(\Sigma)$  from "countably additive functions on  $\Sigma$ ", is given the partial order defined by  $\mu \leq \nu$  whenever  $\mu(A) \leq \nu(A)$  for all  $A \in \Sigma$ , for  $\mu$  and  $\nu$  in  $ca(\Sigma)$ . With this partial order  $ca(\Sigma)$  is a vector lattice with the following expression for the supremum and infimum ([5, page 335])

$$(\mu \lor \nu)(A) = \sup_{A \supseteq B \in \Sigma} (\mu(B) + \nu(A \setminus B)) \quad (\mu \land \nu)(A) = \inf_{A \supseteq B \in \Sigma} (\mu(B) + \nu(A \setminus B)),$$

for  $\mu$  and  $\nu$  in ca( $\Sigma$ ) and  $A \in \Sigma$ . Furthermore, the following expression for the absolute value of an element  $\mu$  of ca( $\Sigma$ ), also known as the *variation* of  $\mu$ , can be derived

$$|\mu|(A) = \sup_{A \supseteq B \in \Sigma} (\mu(B) - \mu(A \setminus B)) = \sup_{\pi \in \Pi(\Sigma)} \sum_{A \in \pi} |\mu(A)|,$$

for  $A \in \Sigma$ , where  $\Pi(\Sigma)$  is the set of all partitions of  $\Sigma$ .

**Lemma 2.17.** For  $\mu \in ca(\Sigma)$ , define  $\|\mu\| = |\mu|(X)$ . Then  $ca(\Sigma)$  is an L-space.

*Proof.* A proof that  $ca(\Sigma)$  is complete with respect to the given norm can be found in [12, Theorem 4.6.1]. It is trivial that the norm is additive on the positive cone.

Whenever  $\Sigma$  is the  $\sigma$ -algebra of the Borel sets of a compact Hausdorff space K, we denote  $\operatorname{ca}(\Sigma)$  by  $\operatorname{ca}(K)$ .

**Definition 2.18.** If K is a compact Hausdorff space with a  $\sigma$ -algebra of Borel sets  $\Sigma$ , a measure  $\mu \in ca(K)$  is called regular if

$$\sup_{\substack{A \supseteq C \in \Sigma \\ C \text{ compact}}} |\mu|(C) = |\mu|(A) = \inf_{\substack{A \subseteq O \in \Sigma \\ O \text{ open}}} |\mu|(O) \,,$$

for all  $A \in \Sigma$ . The set of all regular measures on  $\Sigma$  is denoted by rca(K), which is a closed ideal of ca(K) ([3, Theorem 12.12]).

This space  $\operatorname{rca}(K)$  is particularly interesting because it is the dual of the space of continuous functions on a compact Hausdorff space K. The duality pairing is given by the integral:  $\phi_{\mu}(u) = \langle u, \mu \rangle = \int_{K} u \, \mathrm{d} \, \mu$  for  $\mu \in \operatorname{rca}(K)$  and  $u \in C(K)$ .

**Theorem 2.19** (Riesz-Markov-Kakutani). (Originally from [31, Theorem 10]) For any compact Hausdorff space K, the mapping  $\mu \mapsto \phi_{\mu}$  is an isometry and a lattice isomorphism from rca(K) onto the dual of C(K).

Combining these representation theorems, Theorems 2.14, 2.15 and 2.19, we get the following corollary:

**Corollary 2.20.** The dual of any principal ideal  $E_u$  in a Banach lattice E is isometric lattice isomorphic to both rca(K), for some compact Hausdorff K, and some concrete  $L^1(\mu)$ .

# 2.3 Characterization Grothendieck Banach lattices

The following important result is due to Kühn.

**Theorem 2.21.** (Originally from [35, Proposition 1], also in [43, Theorem 5.3.13]) A Banach lattice with the interpolation property whose dual has order continuous norm, is Grothendieck if and only if any weak<sup>\*</sup> null sequence of positive pairwise disjoint elements of the dual converges weakly.

**Proposition 2.22.** The dual of a Banach lattice with the Grothendieck property has an order continuous norm.

*Proof.* Since the dual is Dedekind complete, it suffices to consider only sequences  $(u'_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  of positive elements of the dual E' satisfying  $u' \downarrow 0$ . It follows directly from the definition of the order on the dual E', see the beginning of Section 2.1, that  $(u'_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is a weak<sup>\*</sup> null sequence, that is, the weak<sup>\*</sup> topology is an *order continuous topology*. By the Grothendieck property, such a sequence is thus weakly null. By Lemma 2.4 it follows that such a sequence must be norm null.

# 2.3.1 Lotz' characterization

The following is a small lemma that will be used to rephrase an assertion about open disjoints sets using disjoint functions instead.

**Lemma 2.23.** Let X be a compact Hausdorff space and  $\mu \in rca(X)$ . Let  $\epsilon > 0$  be given.

- 1. If O is an open subset of X then there exists a norm one,  $||f||_{\infty} = 1$ , continuous function f on X whose support is contained in O, with  $|\int_X f d\mu| > |\mu(O)| \epsilon$ .
- 2. If f is a norm one continuous function on X, then there exists an open O subset contained in the support of f, with  $|\mu(O)| > \frac{1}{2} |\int_X f d\mu| - \epsilon$ .

*Proof.* 1. Since  $|\mu|$  is regular, there exists a compact  $C \subseteq O$  such that  $|\mu|(O \setminus C) < \frac{1}{2}\epsilon$ . By the triangle inequality we thus have  $|\mu(C)| > |\mu(O)| - \frac{1}{2}\epsilon$ . By Urysohn's lemma, there exists a continuous function f on X whose support is contained in O such that  $0 \le f \le 1$  and f = 1 on C. It follows that

$$\left| \int_X f \,\mathrm{d}\,\mu \right| = \left| \int_{O \setminus C} f \,\mathrm{d}\,\mu + \int_C f \,\mathrm{d}\,\mu \right| \ge |\mu(C)| - \left| \int_{O \setminus C} f \,\mathrm{d}\,\mu \right|$$
$$\ge |\mu(C)| - \int_{O \setminus C} |f| \,\mathrm{d}|\mu| \ge |\mu(C)| - |\mu|(O \setminus C) \ge |\mu(C)| - \frac{1}{2}\epsilon \ge |\mu(O)| - \epsilon$$

2. Let a norm one continuous function f on X be given. Define  $A = \{f \neq 0\}$ , then

$$\left| \int_X f \,\mathrm{d}\, \mu \right| \le \int_X |f| \,\mathrm{d}|\mu| \le |\mu|(A) \,.$$

If (P, N) is the Hahn decomposition ([22, 231E]) of  $\mu$ , then

$$|\mu|(A) = \mu(A \cap P) - \mu(A \cap N).$$

Without loss of generality, assume that  $|\mu(A \cap P)| \ge \frac{1}{2}|\mu|(A)$ . By regularity of the measure  $\mu$ , we can pick a compact set  $C \subseteq A \cap N$  such that  $|\mu((A \cap N) \setminus C)| < \epsilon$ . Define  $O = A \setminus C$ , then by the reverse triangle inequality,

$$\begin{aligned} |\mu(O)| \ge |\mu(O \cap P)| - |\mu(O \cap N)| \\ = |\mu(A \cap P)| - |\mu((A \cap N) \setminus C)| \ge \frac{1}{2} |\mu(A)| - \epsilon \ge \frac{1}{2} \left| \int_X f \,\mathrm{d}\, \mu \right| - \epsilon \end{aligned}$$

The following characterization of relatively weakly compact sets of rca(X), for compact Hausdorff X was used by Grothendieck to prove Theorem 1.31, and was also used by Lotz to prove the Grothendieck property of Weak  $L^p$  spaces.

**Theorem 2.24** (Grothendieck's weak compactness criterion). (Originally from [25, Théoremè 2], also in [18, Theorem 14 of chapter VII] and [43, Theorem 2.5.5] for M-spaces) For any bounded subset A of rca(K) with K a compact Hausdorff space the following are equivalent

- (i) A is relatively weakly compact,
- (ii) if  $(O_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is a sequence of disjoint open sets in K, then  $(|\mu(O_n)|_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  converges to zero uniformly in  $\mu \in A$ ,
- (iii) if  $(f_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is a sequence of disjoint functions in C(K) of norm one, then  $\left(\left|\int_K f_n \,\mathrm{d}\,\mu\right|_n\right)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  converges to zero uniformly in  $\mu \in A$ .

Partial proof. For the equivalences of (i) and (ii), see [18, page 98, Theorem VII. 14] or [10, Theorem 6.4.2]. The last equivalence follows from Lemma 2.23.

Some facts about Banach lattices are required for the main result of this section.

**Definition 2.25.** A subset A of a Banach lattice E is called almost (or approximately) order bounded if and only if for any positive  $\epsilon$  there exists a positive u in E such that  $A \subseteq [-u, u] + \epsilon$  ball(E).

The following theorem describes the relatively weakly compact sets of  $L^1$ .

**Theorem 2.26** (Dunford-Pettis). (See [43, Theorem 2.5.4]) A non-empty bounded subset A of an L-space is relatively weakly compact if and only if A is almost order bounded.

**Lemma 2.27.** If E is an L-space, then the number of mutually disjoint norm one elements in  $F = [-u, u] + \epsilon \operatorname{ball}(E)$ , with  $u \in E_+$  and  $0 < \epsilon < 1$ , is bounded by  $\frac{1}{1-\epsilon} ||u||$ .

*Proof.* It is first established that the absolute value of each element  $v \in F$  can be written as

$$|v| = v_1 + v_2$$
 with  $v_1 = u \land |v| \in [-u, u]$  and  $v_2 = (|v| - u)^+ \in \epsilon$  ball $(E)$ .

Only the claim that the second term lies in  $\epsilon$  ball(E) requires an explanation. Write  $v = v'_1 + v'_2$  with  $-u \leq v'_1 \leq u$  and  $v'_2 \in \epsilon$  ball(E). By the Riesz decomposition property, see [43, Theorem 1.1.1 (viii)], it follows from  $|v| \leq |v'_1| + |v'_2|$  that we can choose  $0 \leq v''_1 \leq |v'_1|$  and  $0 \leq v''_2 \leq |v'_2|$  such that  $|v| = v''_1 + v''_2$ . Using

$$(|v| - u)^{+} = (v_1'' + v_2'' - u)^{+} \le (u + v_2'' - u)^{+} = v_2'' \le |v_2'|.$$
(3)

we then find  $\left\| (|v| - u)^+ \right\| \le \epsilon$ .

The number of elements in a set of mutually disjoint norm one elements  $G \subseteq F$  is

$$|G| = \sum_{v \in G} ||v|| \le \sum_{v \in G} ||v_1|| + \sum_{v \in G} ||v_2||,$$

where  $v_1$  and  $v_2$  are defined as above. The second term can be estimated by  $\epsilon |G|$  and the first term is estimated first using additivity of the norm on  $E_+$  and then using the mutual disjointness:

$$\sum_{v \in G} \|u \wedge |v|\| \stackrel{\text{AL}}{=} \left\| \sum_{v \in G} u \wedge |v| \right\| \stackrel{\text{disj}}{=} \left\| u \wedge \sum_{v \in G} |v| \right\| \le \|u\|.$$
(4)

It follows that  $|G| \le ||u|| + \epsilon |G|$ , so  $|G| \le \frac{1}{1-\epsilon} ||u||$ .

It will be convenient to introduce the following terminology, not defined in common literature.

**Definition 2.28.** A sequence  $(u_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  in a Banach lattice E will be called finitely disjoint if for each  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  there exists N elements in  $\{u_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  that are mutually disjoint.

The following corollary follows immediately from Theorem 2.26 and Lemma 2.27.

**Corollary 2.29.** If  $(u_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is a normalized finitely disjoint sequence in an L-space, then  $\{u_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ is not relatively weakly compact.

**Definition 2.30.** Let E be a Banach space. A sequence  $(u_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  in E is called an  $\ell^1$ -basic sequence if there exist positive constants c and C such that

$$c\sum_{n=1}^{N} |\alpha_n| \le \left\|\sum_{n=1}^{N} \alpha_n u_n\right\|_E \le C\sum_{n=1}^{N} |\alpha_n|$$

for all  $\alpha_1, ..., \alpha_N \in \mathbb{R}$  and all  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ .

A sequence  $(u_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  of a Banach space E is an  $\ell^1$  basic sequence if and only if  $(u_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is a Schauder basis in  $\overline{\text{span}}\{u_n : n \in \mathbb{N}\}$  and the map T from  $\overline{\text{span}}\{u_n : n \in \mathbb{N}\}$  into  $\ell^1$ , defined by  $T(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \alpha_n u_n) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \alpha_n e_n$  is a linear isomorphism, with  $(e_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  the standard basis of  $\ell^1$ . This implies, in particular, that an  $\ell^1$ -basic sequence is not weakly convergent, since the standard basis  $(e_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  in  $\ell^1$  is not weakly convergent in  $\ell^1$ . The following dichotomy for norm bounded disjoint sequences will avoid us from relying on the involved Rosenthal's  $\ell^1$  theorem.

**Lemma 2.31.** A norm bounded disjoint sequence in a Banach lattice E is either weakly convergent, or has an  $\ell^1$ -basic subsequence.

*Proof.* Let  $(u_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  be a norm bounded disjoint sequence in the Banach lattice E which is not weakly convergent, thus certainly not a weakly null sequence. Then there exists an element u' in the dual of E such that  $(\langle u_n, u' \rangle)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  does not converge to zero. There exists a positive  $\epsilon$  and a subsequence  $(v_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  of  $(u_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$ , such that  $|\langle v_n, u' \rangle| > \epsilon$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . We claim that this subsequence is an  $\ell^1$ -basic sequence. Let an  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $\alpha_1, ..., \alpha_N \in \mathbb{R}$  be given. Then by norm-boundedness of  $(v_n)_{n=1}^{\infty},$ 

$$\left\|\sum_{n=1}^{N} \alpha_n v_n\right\| \le \sum_{n=1}^{N} |\alpha_n| \|v_n\| \le \left(\sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \|v_n\|\right) \sum_{n=1}^{N} |\alpha_n|.$$

On the other hand, using the disjointness of  $(v_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$ ,

$$\begin{split} \left\|\sum_{n=1}^{N} \alpha_n v_n\right\| \|v'\| &= \left\|\sum_{n=1}^{N} |\alpha_n v_n|\right\| \|v'\| \ge \left\langle \sum_{n=1}^{N} |\alpha_n v_n|, |v'| \right\rangle \\ &= \sum_{n=1}^{N} |\alpha_n| \langle |v_n|, |v'| \rangle \ge \sum_{n=1}^{N} |\alpha_n| |\langle v_n, v' \rangle| \ge \epsilon \sum_{n=1}^{N} |\alpha_n| \end{split}$$

It follows that

$$\left\|\sum_{n=1}^{N} \alpha_n v_n\right\| \ge \frac{\epsilon}{\|v'\|} \sum_{n=1}^{N} |\alpha_n|.$$

We may conclude that  $(v_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is an  $\ell^1$ -basic sequence, so  $(u_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  has an  $\ell^1$ -basic sequence.  **Lemma 2.32.** Let *E* be a Banach space and let  $(u'_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  be an  $\ell^1$ -basic sequence in *E'*. Then there exist a  $\delta > 0$  such that for each finite subset  $A \subseteq \mathbb{N}$  there exists  $u_A \in E$  satisfying  $||u_A|| = 1$  and  $\langle u_A, u'_n \rangle > \delta$  for  $n \in A$ .

*Proof.* Let  $T : \overline{\text{span}}\{u'_n\} \to \ell^1$  be the isomorphism  $T(\sum_n \alpha_n u'_n) = \sum \alpha_n e_n$ , with  $(e_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  the standard basis in  $\ell^1$ . Then:

$$\frac{1}{\|T\|} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |\alpha_n| \le \left\| \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \alpha_n u_n' \right\| \le \|T^{-1}\| \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |\alpha_n|,$$
(5)

for all  $(\alpha_n)_{n=1}^{\infty} \in \ell^1$ . Define the linear functional  $v'' : \overline{\operatorname{span}}\{u'_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \to \mathbb{R}$  by

$$\left\langle \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \alpha_n u'_n, v'' \right\rangle = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \alpha_n \, .$$

Now  $||v''|| \leq ||T||$ , by (5), and by construction  $\langle u'_n, v'' \rangle = 1$  for  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . By the Hahn-Banach theorem, this functional v'' can be extended to the whole of E' preserving its norm. Call this extension v'' again. By Goldstine's theorem, there exists a net  $(v_t)_{t \in T}$  of elements in E such that  $j_E(v_t)$  converges to v'' in the weak\* topology of the bidual E'', and such that  $||v_t|| \leq ||v''|| \leq ||T||$  for all  $t \in T$ . By definition of the weak\* topology and our choice of v'',  $\lim_{t \in T} \langle v_t, u'_n \rangle = 1$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

Let a finite set  $A \subseteq \mathbb{N}$  be given. Choose t such that  $\langle v_t, u'_n \rangle > \frac{1}{2}$  for all  $n \in A$ . By the latter inequality and the bound on the norms of  $v_t$ , the element  $u_A = \frac{v_t}{\|v_t\|}$  satisfies  $\|u_A\| = 1$  and  $\langle u_A, u'_n \rangle > \frac{1}{2} \|T\|^{-1}$  for all  $n \in A$ . Take  $\delta = \frac{1}{2} \|T\|^{-1}$ .

**Proposition 2.33.** Let *E* be a Banach lattice and suppose that  $(u'_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is a finitely disjoint sequence of positive elements in the dual of *E*. If there exists a positive  $u_0$  in *E* and a  $\delta > 0$  such that  $\langle u_0, u'_n \rangle \geq \delta$  for all *n*, then there exists a subsequence  $(u'_{n_m})_{m=1}^{\infty}$ , a disjoint sequence  $(v_m)_{m=1}^{\infty}$  in  $[0, u_0]$  and an  $\epsilon > 0$  such that  $\langle v_m, u'_{n_m} \rangle \geq \epsilon$  for all  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ .

*Proof.* For  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , define the functionals  $w'_n \in E'_+$  by

$$w_n' = \frac{u_n'}{\langle u_0, u_n' \rangle} \,.$$

Let  $E_{u_0}$  be the principal ideal in E equipped with the order unit norm  $\|\cdot\|_{E_{u_0}}$  and let  $\phi_n$  be the restriction of  $w'_n$  to  $E_{u_0}$ . Since  $\phi_n \ge 0$  and  $\langle u_0, \phi_n \rangle = 1$ , it follows that  $\|\phi_n\|_{E'_{u_0}} = 1$  for all n. Furthermore, the restriction map  $w' \mapsto w'|_{E_{u_0}}$  is a lattice homomorphism from the dual of E into the dual of  $E_{u_0}$  and so, the sequence  $(\phi_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is also finitely disjoint. Since the dual of  $E_{u_0}$  is an L-space, by Lemma 2.12 and Theorem 2.13, it follows from Corollary 2.29 that  $\{\phi_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is not relatively weakly compact in the dual of  $E_{u_0}$ . Using that  $E_{u_0}$  is isometrically lattice isomorphic to C(K) for some compact Hausdorff space K, by Theorem 2.14, it follows from Grothendieck's weak compactness criterion Theorem 2.24 that there exists a disjoint sequence  $(f_m)_{m=1}^{\infty}$  in  $E_{u_0}$  such that for all m we have  $\|f_m\|_{E_{u_0}} = 1$  and

$$\sup_{n\in\mathbb{N}} |\langle f_m, \phi_n \rangle| > \delta \,,$$

for some  $\gamma$ . Since  $\phi_n \ge 0$ , we have  $|\langle f_m, \phi_n \rangle| \le \langle |f_m|, |\phi_n| \rangle$  and so, replacing  $f_m$  by  $|f_m|$  if necessary, it may be assumed that  $0 \le f_m \le u_0$  for all m. Hence, setting  $\epsilon = \delta \gamma$ , it follows that for all  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ 

$$\sup_{n\in\mathbb{N}}\langle f_m, u_n'\rangle = \sup_{n\in\mathbb{N}}\langle u_0, u_n'\rangle\langle f_m, w_n'\rangle > \epsilon > 0\,,$$

By Lemma 2.5,  $f_m \to 0$  weakly as  $m \to \infty$  and so, it follows from Lemma 2.6 that there exists a subsequence  $(f_{m_k})_{k=1}^{\infty}$  of  $(f_m)_{m=1}^{\infty}$  and a subsequence  $(u'_{n_k})_{k=1}^{\infty}$  of  $(u'_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  such that  $\langle f_{m_k}, u'_{n_k} \rangle > \epsilon$  for all k. Setting  $v_k = f_{m_k}$  finishes the proof.

**Theorem 2.34.** (Originally from [40, Theorem 1]) Let E be a Banach lattice with the countable interpolation property whose dual has order continuous norm. Then E is a Grothendieck space if there exists a collection  $\mathcal{G}$  of positive linear operators on E with lattice homomorphic adjoints, and there exists a positive element  $u_0$  in E such that:

- 1. for every  $u \in E$  there exists a  $T \in \mathcal{G}$  such that  $|u| \leq ||u|| Tu_0$ ,
- 2. for every sequence  $(u_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  of mutually disjoint elements in  $[0, u_0]$  and every sequence  $(T_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  in  $\mathcal{G}$ , there exists a non-negative v in E such that  $T_n u_n \leq v$  for all n.

*Proof.* By Theorem 2.21 it suffices to show that weak<sup>\*</sup> null sequences of positive pairwise disjoint elements of the dual converge weakly. Any weak<sup>\*</sup> convergent sequence is necessarily norm-bounded and by Lemma 2.31 a norm-bounded disjoint sequence either converges weakly or contains a basic  $\ell^1$  subsequence. Suppose by contradiction that  $(u'_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is a weak<sup>\*</sup> null sequence of positive pairwise disjoint elements in the dual of E that is not weakly null. By passing to a subsequence we may thus assume  $(u'_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  to be an  $\ell^1$ -basic sequence.

Take an arbitrary sequence of mutually disjoint subsets of  $\{u'_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  such that the number of elements tends to infinity. To be explicit, define for each  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$F_N = \left\{ n \in \mathbb{N} : \frac{(N-1)N}{2} < n \le \frac{N(N+1)}{2} \right\}.$$

Lemma 2.32 gives a  $\delta > 0$  and a sequence  $(u_N)_{N=1}^{\infty}$  of normalized elements of E such that  $\langle u_N, u'_n \rangle \ge \delta$  whenever  $n \in F_N$ . The same holds for  $(|u_N|)_{N=1}^{\infty}$ , since the  $u'_n$ 's are positive.

By the first requirement on  $\mathcal{G}$  and  $u_0$ , there exists a sequence  $(S_N)_{N=1}^{\infty}$  in  $\mathcal{G}$  such that  $|u_N| \leq S_N u_0$ . Define the map  $\sigma : \mathbb{N} \to \mathbb{N}$  by setting  $\sigma(n) = N$  whenever  $n \in F_N$  and let  $T_n = S_{\sigma(n)}$  for  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Observe that, if  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , then

$$\langle T_n u_0, u'_n \rangle = \langle S_N u_0, u'_n \rangle \ge \langle |u_N|, u'_n \rangle \ge \delta$$

where N is such that  $n \in F_N$ .

Furthermore, for each  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ , the system

$$\{T'_n u'_n : n \in F_N\} = \{S'_N u'_n : n \in F_N\}$$

is disjoint, as  $S'_N$  is a lattice homomorphism, by the hypothesis on  $\mathcal{G}$ . Therefore, the sequence  $(T'_n u'_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is finitely disjoint and for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$\langle u_0, T'_n u'_n \rangle = \langle T_n u_0, u'_n \rangle \ge \delta$$

Hence, by Proposition 2.33, there exists a disjoint sequence  $(v_m)_{m=1}^{\infty}$  in  $[0, u_0]$ , a subsequence  $(T'_{n_m}u'_{n_m})_{m=1}^{\infty}$  of  $(T'_nu'_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  and an  $\epsilon > 0$  such that for  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ 

$$\left\langle v_m, T'_{n_m} u'_{n_m} \right\rangle > \epsilon$$

By hypothesis, there exists a positive  $v \in E$  such that  $T_{n_m}v_m \leq v$  for all  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ . This implies that for all  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$\langle v, u'_{n_m} \rangle \ge \langle T_{n_m}v, u'_{n_m} \rangle = \langle v_m, T'_{n_m}u'_{n_m} \rangle > \epsilon$$

which contradicts the assumption that  $(u'_{n_m})_{m=1}^{\infty}$  is weak<sup>\*</sup> null. This suffices for a proof of the theorem.

# 3 Banach function spaces

For a given  $\sigma$ -finite measure space  $(X, \Sigma, \mu)$ , let  $\mathcal{M}(\mu)$  denote the collection of all measurable functions from X to the extended real numbers  $\mathbb{R}^*$ , with the usual identification of  $\mu$ -almost everywhere equal functions. The vector space structure, can only be naturally defined on the subset  $\mathcal{M}_0(\mu)$  of  $\mathcal{M}(\mu)$  consisting of all  $f \in \mathcal{M}(\mu)$  which are finite  $\mu$ -almost everywhere, and is obtained by considering pointwise operations, that is, by defining (f + g)(x) = f(x) + g(x) and (cf)(x) = cf(x) for all  $c \in \mathbb{R}$ , all  $f, g \in \mathcal{M}_0(\mu)$ , and for  $\mu$ -almost all  $x \in X$ . The *lattice* structure on  $\mathcal{M}(\mu)$  is pointwise inherited from the natural order on  $\mathbb{R}^*$ :  $f \leq g$  if and only if  $f(x) \leq g(x)$  for  $\mu$ -almost all  $x \in X$ .

**Definition 3.1.** A function  $\rho : \mathcal{M}(\mu)_+ \to [0, \infty]$  is called a function norm if and only if it satisfies the following three conditions:

- (i)  $\rho$  has trivial kernel, that is,  $\rho(f) = 0$  implies f = 0 for  $f \in \mathcal{M}(\mu)_+$ .
- (ii)  $\rho$  is sublinear, that is,  $\rho(f+g) \leq \rho(f) + \rho(g)$  for  $f,g \in \mathcal{M}(\mu)_+$  and  $\rho(\alpha f) = \alpha \rho(f)$  for  $f \in \mathcal{M}(\mu)_+$  and  $\alpha \geq 0$ . We set  $0\infty = 0$ .
- (iii)  $\rho$  is order preserving, that is,  $f \leq g$  implies  $\rho(f) \leq \rho(g)$  for f and  $g \in \mathcal{M}(\mu)_+$ .

Furthermore,  $\rho$  is called a function quasi-norm if sublinearity is relaxed to these two conditions: there exists a finite constant C such that  $\rho(f+g) \leq C(\rho(f) + \rho(g))$  for  $f, g \in \mathcal{M}(\mu)_+$ , and  $\rho(\alpha f) = \alpha \rho(f)$  for  $f \in \mathcal{M}(\mu)_+$  and  $\alpha \geq 0$ .

Whenever  $\rho$  is a function (quasi-)norm, the subset  $\mathcal{M}_{\rho}(\mu) = \{f \in \mathcal{M}(\mu) : \rho(|f|) < \infty\}$  is defined to be its corresponding (quasi-)normed function space and  $\rho(|f|)$  is denoted as  $||f||_{\rho}$ , or ||f||, if no ambiguity is possible.

A complete normed function space is called a Banach function space.

**Lemma 3.2.** If  $\mu$  is a measure and  $\rho$  is a function norm on  $\mathcal{M}_{\rho}(\mu)_{+}$ , then  $\mathcal{M}_{\rho}(\mu) \subseteq \mathcal{M}_{0}(\mu)$  is a vector subspace and  $\|\cdot\|_{\rho}$  is a norm on  $\mathcal{M}_{\rho}(\mu)$ .

Proof. To show  $\mathcal{M}_{\rho}(\mu) \subseteq \mathcal{M}_{0}(\mu)$ , let  $f \in \mathcal{M}_{\rho}(\mu)$ . Clearly  $c\mathbf{1}_{\{|f|=\infty\}} \leq |f|$  for all c > 0, and so by by property (ii) of Definition 3.1 it follows that  $c\rho(\mathbf{1}_{\{|f|=\infty\}}) \leq \rho(|f|)$ . Hence if  $\rho(|f|) < \infty$ , then  $\rho(\mathbf{1}_{\{f=\infty\}}) = 0$  and so,  $\mathbf{1}_{\{|f|=\infty\}} = 0$   $\mu$ -almost everywhere, that is,  $f \in \mathcal{M}_{0}(\mu)$ . Trivially  $\mathcal{M}_{\rho}(\mu)$ is closed under scalar multiplication and closed under addition, by property (ii). By properties (i) and (ii)  $\rho$  is a norm on  $\mathcal{M}_{\rho}(\mu)$ .

**Definition 3.3.** A function norm  $\|\cdot\|_{\rho}$  on  $\mathcal{M}(\mu)_+$  is said to have the Fatou property if  $f_n \uparrow f$  in  $\mathcal{M}(\mu)_+$  implies  $\rho(f_n) \uparrow \rho(f)$ .

**Lemma 3.4.** The Fatou property of a function norm  $\rho$  implies completeness of its corresponding normed function space.

*Proof.* The Fatou property implies the so-called Riesz Fisher property ([59, 65 Theorem 1]), which implies completeness ([59, 30 Theorem 2]).

# **3.1** Weak $L^p$ spaces

The terminology concerning Weak  $L^p$  spaces is in accordance with the terminology of Bennett and Sharpley [11].

#### 3.1.1 Definition from Chebyshev's inequality

The necessity to consider something like Weak  $L^p$  spaces originates from a part of functional analysis called interpolation theory of which the the Marcinkiewicz's interpolation theorem, and the Riesz-Thorin interpolation theorem, [50] and [58], lie at its foundation. However, the definition of Weak  $L^p$  spaces will be presented here without such a justification as to why such a generalization of  $L^p$ might be interesting to consider.

The following property of functions in  $L^p$  will become the defining property of Weak  $L^p$  spaces.

**Theorem 3.5** (Chebyshev inequality). (Originally from [57]) For all  $f \in L^p(\mu)$ , with 0 :

$$\forall y > 0 : \mu(\{|f| > y\}) \le \left(\frac{\|f\|_{L^p}}{y}\right)^p.$$
 (6)

where  $\{x \in X : |f(x)| > y\}$  is denoted as  $\{|f| > y\}$ .

*Proof.* For any  $\mu$ -measurable function f, monotonicity of the integral gives

$$y^{p}\mu(\{|f|^{p} > y^{p}\}) = \int_{\{|f|^{p} > y^{p}\}} y^{p} \,\mathrm{d}\,\mu \le \int_{\{|f|^{p} > y^{p}\}} |f|^{p} \,\mathrm{d}\,\mu \le \int_{X} |f|^{p} \,\mathrm{d}\,\mu = \||f|^{p}\|_{L^{1}(\mu)} = \|f\|_{L^{p}(\mu)} \,.$$

**Definition 3.6.** For  $1 , the Weak <math>L^p$  spaces, denoted  $L^{p,\infty}(\mu)$ , are the vector subspaces of  $\mathcal{M}_0(\mu)$  of all  $\mu$ -measurable functions f with

$$||f||'_{p,\infty} = \inf\{C > 0 : \forall y > 0 : \mu(\{|f| > y\}) \le (C/y)^p\} < \infty,$$
(7)

with the convention that the infimum of the empty set is infinity.

In Lemma 3.14 the quantity defined in Equation (7) will be shown to be a quasi-norm, which justifies the notation  $\|\cdot\|'_{p,\infty}$ . The apostrophe distinguishes the quasi-norm from the equivalent norm defined in Equation (12), proven to be a norm in Lemma 3.20. The name of Weak  $L^p$  spaces is justified by the inclusion  $L^p \subseteq L^{p,\infty}$ , which follows from Equation (6). On  $\mathbb{R}$  with Lebesgue measure  $\lambda$  the function  $f \in L^{p,\infty}(\lambda) \setminus L^p(\lambda)$  defined by  $f(x) = |x|^{-1/p}$  shows that in general  $L^p \subsetneq L^{p,\infty}$ .

The definition of Weak  $L^p$  spaces presented here does not easily extend to the even more general Lorentz space  $L^{p,q}(\mu)$ , and does not yield the most convenient expression for the quasi-norm, but Equation (7) can be cast into such a form. The first step is to take a closer look at the expression  $\mu(\{|f| > y\})$ .

#### 3.1.2 The distribution function

The function that assigns to each positive y the left hand side of the inequality in Equation (6) is given a name in the following definition.

**Definition 3.7.** For a  $\mu$ -measurable function f defined on a measure space  $(X, \Sigma, \mu)$  its distribution function  $d_f^{\mu}$ , or  $d_f$  whenever  $\mu$  is fixed, is defined by  $d_f^{\mu}(y) = \mu(\{|f| > y\})$  for positive  $y \ge 0$ . A  $\nu$ -measurable g defined on a measure space  $(Y, \Xi, \nu)$  is called equimeasurable with f if  $d_f^{\mu} = d_q^{\nu}$ .

Notice that if there exists some positive  $y_0$  such that  $d_f(y_0)$  is finite, then  $d_f(y) \to \mu(\{|f| = \infty\})$ as  $y \to \infty$  (in particular,  $d_f(y) \to 0$  as  $y \to 0$  if  $f \in \mathcal{M}_0(\mu)$ ). Note that in general it may occur that  $d_f$  is identically infinity (take for example f(x) = x on  $[0, \infty)$ ).

#### Lemma 3.8. The distribution function is decreasing and right-continuous.

*Proof.* For a  $\mu$ -measurable function f, its distribution function  $d_f$  is decreasing, since it is the composition of a decreasing  $y \mapsto \{|f| > y\}$  and an increasing  $\mu$  (with the partial order  $\subseteq$  on X).

Let y be positive. To show right-continuity of the distribution function, we define  $A_n = \{|f| > y + 1/n\}$ . Since  $d_f$  is decreasing, the limit  $\lim_{z \downarrow y} d_f(z)$  exists if the limit  $\lim_{n \to \infty} f\left(y + \frac{1}{n}\right)$  exists. Since  $A_n \uparrow \{|f| > y\}$  implies  $\mu(A_n) \uparrow \mu(\{|f| > y\})$ , it follows that  $\lim_{n \to \infty} f\left(y + \frac{1}{n}\right) = f(y)$ .

Simplifying the expression for  $\|\cdot\|'_{p,\infty}$  and substituting this definition yields the following alternative expression (which will be shown to be a quasi-norm in Lemma 3.14.

**Lemma 3.9.** For  $1 and any <math>\mu$ -measurable function f

$$\|f\|'_{p,\infty} = \sup_{y>0} y (d_f(y))^{1/p} \,. \tag{8}$$

Proof. Substituting Definition 3.7 in Equation (7) and simplifying gives the desired result:

$$||f||'_{p,\infty} = \inf \left\{ C \ge 0 : \forall y > 0 : y(d_f(y))^{1/p} \le C \right\}$$
$$= \inf \left\{ C \ge 0 : \qquad \sup_{y>0} y(d_f(y))^{1/p} \le C \right\} = \sup_{y>0} y(d_f(y))^{1/p}$$

for  $f \in \mathcal{M}(\mu)$ .

An intuitive way to interpret the distribution function is that it somewhat resembles the inverse function: if X is the strictly positive real axis  $(0, \infty)$  with Lebesgue measure, and f > 0 is strictly decreasing, then  $d_f = f^{-1}$ .

# 3.1.3 The decreasing rearrangement function

**Definition 3.10.** For any  $\mu$ -measurable function f the decreasing rearrangement function of f, denoted  $f^* : [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty]$ , is defined by

$$f^*(t) = \inf\{0 < y : d_f(y) \le t\}$$

Notice that if the distribution function of an almost everywhere finite measurable function f is not everywhere infinite, then  $f^*(t)$  is finite for all positive t. The collections of such functions will be denoted by  $S(\mu)$ , so

$$S(\mu) = \{ f \in \mathcal{M}_0(\mu) : \exists y_0 > 0 : d_f(y_0) < \infty \} \\ = \{ f \in \mathcal{M}_0(\mu) : \forall t > 0 : f^*(t) < \infty \}.$$

**Lemma 3.11.** (See [14, Theorem 4.5]) For any  $\mu$ -measurable function f,  $f^*$  is decreasing and right-continuous,  $f^* = d_{d_f}$ , and  $d_f = d_{f^*}$ , that is, f and  $f^*$  are equimeasurable.

*Proof.* For any partition of  $(0, \infty)$  of nonempty sets A and B with  $a \leq b$  for all  $a \in A$  and all  $b \in B$ , inf  $B = \sup A$ . By Lemma 3.8,  $A_t = \{0 < y : d_f(y) > t\}$  and  $B_t = \{0 < y : d_f(y) \leq t\}$  satisfy these requirements if they are not empty, so

$$f^*(t) = \inf B_t = \sup A_t = \lambda(A_t) = d_{d_f}(t),$$

follows in this case. When  $A_t$  or  $B_t$  is empty, the assertion follows trivially.

We first show that that  $f^*(t) > y$  if and only if  $d_f(y) > t$ , for t and y positive. From  $\inf B_t = f^*(t) > y$  it follows that  $y \notin B_t$ , so  $d_f(y) > t$ . For the converse, first note that any  $y_n \downarrow f^*(t)$  satisfies  $d_f(y_n) \leq t$  and by right continuity of the distribution function (Lemma 3.8)  $d_f(f^*(t)) \leq t$ . In view of this observation  $f^*(t) < y$  and  $d_f(y) > t$  are contradictory, since the latter inequality implies  $d_f(d_f(y)) < d_f(t)$ , since the decreasing rearrangement function is a decreasing function.

Let a positive y now be given. The derived equivalence gives the following equality:

$$\{t > 0 : f^*(t) > y\} = \{t > 0 : d_f(y) > t\} = (0, d_f(y)),\$$

and by taking Lebesgue measures of both sides we obtain  $d_{f^*}(y) = d_f(y)$ .

**Lemma 3.12.** For any  $\mu$ -measurable function f,

$$\|f\|'_{p,\infty} = \sup_{t>0} t^{1/p} f^*(t) \,. \tag{9}$$

*Proof.* By Equation (8) it suffices to show that  $\sup_{y\geq 0} y(d_f(y))^{1/p} = \sup_{t\geq 0} t^{1/p} f^*(t)$ . Intuitively we would like to set  $d_f(y) = t$  and  $y = d_f^{-1}(t) = f^*(t)$ , which is correct if  $f^*$  is strictly decreasing. Equation (9) is proven in two parts.

For the inequality  $\geq$  the case  $||f||'_{p,\infty} = \infty$  is clear, so assume  $||f||'_{p,\infty} < \infty$ . Then by definition  $d_f(y) \leq \left(||f||'_{p,\infty}\right)^p y^{-p}$  for all  $y \geq 0$ , and so,

$$f^*(t) = \inf\{y > 0 : d_f(y) \le t\} \le \inf\{y > 0 : \left(\|f\|'_{p,\infty}\right)^p y^{-p} \le t\} = \|f\|'_{p,\infty} t^{-1/p}.$$

This shows that  $\sup_{t\geq 0} t^{1/p} f^*(t) \leq ||f||'_{p,\infty}$ .

For the inequality  $\leq$  the case  $\sup_{y\geq 0} y(d_f(y))^{1/p} = 0$  is clear, so fix a  $0 < \lambda < \sup_{y\geq 0} y(d_f(y))^{1/p}$ . Now there exists a y > 0 such that  $\lambda < yd_f(y)^{1/p}$ , that is,  $d_f(y) > \frac{\lambda^p}{y^p}$ . Defining  $t = \frac{\lambda^p}{y^p}$  it follows that

$$f^*(t) = \inf\left\{z \ge 0 : d_f(z) \le \frac{\lambda^p}{y^p}\right\} \ge y = \lambda t^{-1/p},$$

that is,  $t^{1/p}f^*(t) \geq \lambda$ . This shows that  $\sup_{t\geq 0} t^{1/p}f^*(t) \geq \lambda$ . This holds for all  $0 < \lambda < \sup_{y>0} y(d_f(y))^{1/p}$ , which shows that  $\sup_{t\geq 0} t^{1/p}f^*(t) \geq \sup_{y\geq 0} y(d_f(y))^{1/p}$ .

#### 3.1.4 Normability

First it will be shown in Lemma 3.14 that  $\|\cdot\|'_{p,\infty}$  is in fact a quasi-norm and then an equivalent norm will be defined.

**Lemma 3.13.** For  $\mu$ -measurable functions f and g and  $s, t \in [0, \infty)$ ,

$$d_{f+q}(t+s) \le d_f(t) + d_q(s)$$
 and  $(f+g)^*(t+s) \le f^*(t) + g^*(s)$ .

*Proof.* The statement of this lemma can be generalized by replacing each + on the left hand sides of both inequalities by an arbitrary binary operator on  $[0, \infty)$  increasing in both variables, so the proof only relies on this fact.

From  $\{|f+g| > t+s\} \subseteq \{|f| > t\} \cup \{|g| > s\}$  and monotonicity and subadditivity of  $\mu$  follows

$$d_{f+g}(t+s) = \mu(\{|f+g| > t+s\}) \le \mu(\{|f| > t\}) + \mu(\{|g| > s\}) = d_f(t) + d_g(s).$$

A similar inequality holds for decreasing rearrangement functions. Since

$$\{d_f \le t\} + \{d_g \le s\} \subseteq \{d_{f+g} \le t+s\}$$

it follows that

$$(f+g)^*(t+s) = \inf\{d_{f+g} \le t+s\} \le \inf\{d_f \le t\} + \inf\{d_g \le s\} = f^*(t) + g^*(s).$$

**Lemma 3.14.** The Weak  $L^p$  spaces are quasi-normed by  $\|\cdot\|'_{p,\infty}$ .

*Proof.* Only the quasi-triangle inequality requires justification. This is an immediate consequence of Lemma 3.13 by setting a = b = x/2. For f and g in  $L^{p,\infty}(\mu)$ :

$$\|f + g\|'_{p,\infty} \le \sup_{x \ge 0} x^{1/p} (f^*(x/2) + g^*(x/2))$$
(10)

$$\leq \sup_{x\geq 0} (2x)^{1/p} f^*(x) + \sup_{x\geq 0} (2x)^{1/p} f^*(x) = 2^{1/p} \left( \|f\|'_{p,\infty} + \|g\|'_{p,\infty} \right).$$
(11)

While  $f \mapsto f^*$  does not satisfy the subadditivity required for  $\|\cdot\|'_{p,\infty}$  to be a norm, replacing the decreasing rearrangement function in the expression for  $\|\cdot\|'_{p,\infty}$  with the so-called maximal function  $f^{**}$  turns Equation (7) into an equivalent norm. Lemma 3.20 will show that this is actually a norm.

**Definition 3.15.** The maximal function of a  $\mu$ -measurable function f is defined for x > 0 as

$$f^{**}(x) = \frac{1}{x} \int_0^x f^*(y) \,\mathrm{d}\, y \,.$$

For a  $\nu$ -measurable g, we write  $f \prec g$  whenever  $f^{**} \leq g^{**}$ . In this case f is said to be submajorized by g (in [47] f and g are said to be in Hardy-Littlewood-Pólya relation).

Several properties of the maximal function are summarized in the following lemma, the proof of which is from [11, Chapter 2 Proposition 3.2].

**Lemma 3.16.** The maximal function is a decreasing non-negative continuous function that dominates the rearrangement function. It is either finite or constant  $\infty$ .

*Proof.* Let a  $\mu$ -measurable function f be given. Nonnegativity follows from non-negativity of  $f^*$ . If  $f \neq S(\mu)$  then  $f^{**}$  is identically infinity, otherwise  $f^{**}$  is finite  $\mu$ -almost everywhere. Since the antiderivative of a decreasing function is continuous, the function  $\frac{1}{x}$  is continuous, and the product of continuous functions is continuous,  $f^{**}$  is as well. By Lemma 3.8 and Lemma 3.11,  $f^*$  is decreasing, so  $f^*(\alpha) \leq f^*(\alpha \frac{x}{y})$  for  $0 < x \leq y$  and  $0 < \alpha$ , so

$$f^{**}(y) = \frac{1}{y} \int_0^y f^*(y') \,\mathrm{d}\, y' \le \frac{1}{y} \int_0^y f^*(y'x/y) \,\mathrm{d}\, y' = \frac{1}{x} \int_0^x f^*(x') \,\mathrm{d}\, x' = f^{**}(x) \,,$$

which shows the maximal function is decreasing. It dominates the rearrangement function by

$$f^{**}(x) = \frac{1}{x} \int_0^x f^*(x') \, \mathrm{d}\, x' \ge \frac{1}{x} f^*(x) \int_0^x \mathrm{d}\, x' = f^*(x) \,.$$

**Lemma 3.17.** (See [11, Theorem 3.4 of Section 2]) The maximal function is subadditive, that is, for two  $\mu$ -measurable functions f and g we have  $(f+g)^{**} \leq f^{**} + g^{**}$ .

Sketch of proof. The proof is not very difficult for non-atomic or completely atomic measure spaces, the so-called *resonant* measure spaces. An arbitrary totally  $\sigma$ -finite measure space can then be embedded in a non-atomic measure space, a procedure called the *method of retracts*, to obtain the same result for this much larger class of measure spaces.

**Lemma 3.18.** For all sequences  $(f_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  of non-negative measurable functions and all non-negative measurable functions f,  $f_n \uparrow f$  implies  $d_{f_n} \uparrow d_f$ ,  $f_n^* \uparrow f^*$ , and  $f_n^{**} \uparrow f^{**}$ .

*Proof.* By  $f_n \leq f_{n+1}$ ,  $\{|f_n| > t\} \subseteq \{|f_{n+1}| > t\}$  almost everywhere, for all n. By  $\lim_n f_n = f$  also  $\bigcup_n \{|f_n| > t\} = \{|f| > t\}$ . Just like in the proof of right continuity, Lemma 3.8,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} d_{f_n}(t) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \mu(\{|f_n| > t\}) = \mu(\{|f| > t\}) = d_f(t)$$

so  $d_{f_n} \uparrow d_f$ . By Lemma 3.11 also  $f_n^* \uparrow f^*$ . By the monotone convergence theorem also  $f_n^{**} \uparrow f^{**}$ .  $\Box$ 

**Definition 3.19.** Let  $1 . For any <math>\mu$ -measurable function f let

$$\|f\|_{p,\infty} = \sup_{x>0} x^{1/p} f^{**}(x) \,. \tag{12}$$

**Lemma 3.20.** The quasi-norms  $\|\cdot\|'_{p,\infty}$  and  $\|\cdot\|_{p,\infty}$  are equivalent, for measurable functions f,

$$||f||'_{p,\infty} \le ||f||_{p,\infty} \le p' ||f||'_{p,\infty},$$

with p' the conjugate exponent of p, that is, satisfying  $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{p'} = 1$ . The quasi-norm  $\|\cdot\|_{p,\infty}$  is a function norm with the Fatou property (hence  $\left(L^{p,\infty}, \|\cdot\|_{p,\infty}\right)$  is a Banach function space).

*Proof.* One side of the equivalence follows trivially, since  $f^*$  is dominated by  $f^{**}$ , by Lemma 3.16. The other direction of the equivalence of norms follows from Equation (9) and

$$f^{**}(t) = \frac{1}{t} \int_0^t f^*(s) \,\mathrm{d}\, s = \frac{1}{t} \int_0^t s^{-1/p} s^{1/p} f^*(s) \,\mathrm{d}\, s \le \frac{1}{t} \left( \int_0^t s^{-1/p} \,\mathrm{d}\, s \right) \sup_{s>0} s^{1/p} f^*(s) = p' t^{-1/p} \|f\|'_{p,\infty} \,.$$

That the quasi-norm  $\|\cdot\|_{p,\infty}$  is actually a norm follows from Lemma 3.17.

By Lemma 3.4 only the Fatou property has to be proven to show completeness. Since by Lemma 3.18  $(f_n)_{n=1}^{\infty} \uparrow f$  implies  $f_n^{**} \uparrow f^{**}$  for  $(f_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  a sequence of non-negative elements in  $L^{p,\infty}$ , the Fatou property follows from the definition in Equation (12) of the norm  $\|\cdot\|_{p,\infty}$ .

**Definition 3.21.** A Banach function space E on  $(X, \Sigma, \mu)$  is called rearrangement invariant if for equimeasurable f and g in  $\mathcal{M}(\mu)$ ,  $f \in E$  implies  $g \in E$  and ||f|| = ||g||. The norm is called fully-symmetric if it follows from  $f \in \mathcal{M}(\mu)$ ,  $g \in E$  and  $f \prec g$  that  $f \in E$  and  $||f||_E \leq ||g||_E$  (in [47, Theorem 7.7.1] this property is called the Hardy–Littlewood–Pólya principle.

Clearly the spaces  $L^{p,\infty}$  are rearrangement invariant fully-symmetric.

**Lemma 3.22.** Let  $1 and <math>\mu$  be a  $\sigma$ -finite measure. The dual of  $L^{p,\infty}(\mu)$  has an order continuous norm.

*Proof.* By Theorem 2.7 it suffices to to show that the dual cannot contain  $\ell^{\infty}$  isomorphically. A sufficient condition is that there exists a  $q \geq 1$  such that for every disjoint order bounded sequence  $(u_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  of positive elements of the dual, we have  $(||u_n||)_{n=1}^{\infty} \in \ell^q$ . By [43, Corollary 2.8.10], this is equivalent with the dual having a lower q-estimate, that is, for any finite set A of pairwise disjoint elements in the dual of  $L^{p,\infty}(\mu)$  we must have an M such that

$$\left\|\sum_{u\in A} u\right\| \ge M\left(\sum_{u\in A} \|u\|^q\right)^{1/q}$$

which is equivalent to  $L^{p,\infty}(\mu)$  satisfying an upper *p*-estimate, with  $p = \frac{1}{1-\frac{1}{q}}$ , by [43, Corollary 2.8.5]:

$$\left\|\sum_{u\in A} u\right\| \le M\left(\sum_{u\in A} \|u\|^p\right)^{1/p}.$$

Take any finite set of disjoints elements  $\{f_n\}_{n=1}^N$  in  $L^{p,\infty}(\mu)$ . Then for all y,

$$d_{\sum f_n}(y) = \sum d_{f_n}(y) \le y^{-p} \sum \left( \|f_n\|'_{p,\infty} \right)^p \le y^{-p} \sum \left( \|f_n\|_{p,\infty} \right)^p$$

where the first step follows since for disjoint elements, the distribution function of the sum of functions is the sum of distribution functions, and the last inequality follows from equivalence of the norms, Lemma 3.20. Taking the  $y^{-p}$  to the other side and taking the  $\left(\frac{1}{p}\right)^{\text{th}}$  power, gives

$$\left\|\sum f_n\right\|'_{p,\infty} \le \left(\sum \|f_n\|_{p,\infty}^p\right)^{1/p}$$

Using now the other direction of equivalence of the norms, we get

$$\left\|\sum f_n\right\|_{p,\infty} \le p' \left\|\sum f_n\right\|_{p,\infty}' \le p' \left(\sum \|f_n\|_{p,\infty}^p\right)^{1/p},$$

and we obtain an upper *p*-estimate, which implies the dual to have an order continuous norm.  $\Box$ 

**Lemma 3.23.** For all sequences  $(f_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  of positive measurable functions

$$d_{\sup_n f_n} \leq \sum_n d_{f_n}$$
.

*Proof.* By  $\sigma$ -additivity of  $\mu$ , for any such sequence  $(f_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  and any  $y \ge 0$ ,

$$d_{\sup_{n} f}(y) = \mu\left(\left\{x \in X : \left(\sup_{n} f\right)(x) > y\right\}\right) = \mu(\{x \in X : \exists n : f_{n}(x) > y\})$$
  
=  $\mu(\bigcup_{n} \{x \in X : f_{n}(x) > y\}) \le \sum_{n} \mu(\{x \in X : f_{n}(x) > y\}) = \sum_{n} d_{f_{n}}(y).$ 

**Proposition 3.24.** (See [11, Proposition 2.3.3]) Let  $(\mu, \Sigma, X)$  be a  $\sigma$ -finite non-atomic measure and  $t \leq \mu(X)$ . For any  $\mu$ -a.e. finite measurable function f,

$$\int_0^t f^*(s) \,\mathrm{d}\, s = \sup\left\{\int_A f \,\mathrm{d}\, \mu : A \in \Sigma, \mu(A) = t\right\}.$$

An alternative expression for Equation (12) will be derived.

**Theorem 3.25.** For any  $\mu$ -measurable function f,

$$\|f\|_{p,\infty} = \sup_{\substack{A \subseteq X \\ \mu(A) < \infty}} (\mu(A))^{-1/p'} \int_{A} |f| \,\mathrm{d}\,\mu \,.$$
(13)

*Proof.* Let f be a non-negative  $\mu$ -measurable function. Let A now be a measurable set of positive finite measure. The Hardy–Littlewood inequality ([11, Theorem 2.2 of Section 2]) gives the second inequality of

$$\begin{split} \|f\|_{p,\infty} \ge &(\mu(A))^{-1/p'} \int_0^{\mu(A)} f^*(s) \,\mathrm{d}\, s = (\mu(A))^{-1/p'} \int_0^\infty \chi_A^*(s) f^*(s) \,\mathrm{d}\, s \\ \ge &(\mu(A))^{-1/p'} \int_0^\infty (\chi_A f)^*(s) \,\mathrm{d}\, s = (\mu(A))^{-1/p'} \int_X |\chi_A f| \,\mathrm{d}\, \mu = (\mu(A))^{-1/p'} \int_A |f| \,\mathrm{d}\, \mu \,, \end{split}$$

which proves the inequality  $\geq$  of Equation (13).

To prove the inequality  $\leq$ , first assume that the measure  $\mu$  is non-atomic, that is, there does not exists a measurable set A of positive measure such that there does not exist a measurable subset of A of smaller nonzero measure. It follows from Proposition 3.24 that

$$\sup_{0 < t \le \mu(X)} t^{-1/p'} \int_0^t f^*(s) \, \mathrm{d} \, s = \sup_{0 < t \le \mu(X)} \sup_{\mu(A)=t} t^{-1/p'} \int_A f \, \mathrm{d} \, \mu$$
$$= \sup_{0 < t \le \mu(X)} \sup_{\mu(A)=t} (\mu(A))^{-1/p'} \int_A f \, \mathrm{d} \, \mu$$
$$= \sup_{\substack{A \subseteq X \\ \mu(A) < \infty}} (\mu(A))^{-1/p'} \int_A |f| \, \mathrm{d} \, \mu \,,$$

If  $\mu(X) = \infty$  this proves equality of Equation (13), otherwise including  $t > \mu(X)$  does not increase the supremum, since in this case  $f^*(t) = 0$ , so

$$t^{-1/p'} \int_0^t f^*(s) \,\mathrm{d}\, s = t^{-1/p'} \int_0^{\mu(X)} f^*(s) \,\mathrm{d}\, s \le (\mu(X))^{1/p'} \int_0^{\mu(X)} f^*(s) \,\mathrm{d}\, s$$

for all  $t > \mu(X)$ . This proves the inequality  $\leq$  of Equation (13) if  $\mu$  is non-atomic.

Let  $(X, \Sigma, \mu)$  now be an arbitrary  $\sigma$ -finite measure space. Let I = [0, 1] be equipped with Lebesgue measure  $\lambda$ . We define  $\Omega = X \times I$ , equipped with the product measure  $\mu \times \lambda$ . It should be observed that the measure  $\mu \times \lambda$  is non-atomic. For a given non-negative  $\mu$ -measurable function fwe define the  $(\mu \times \lambda)$ -measurable function  $\tilde{f}$  by  $\tilde{f}(x, y) = f(x)$  for all  $(x, y) \in \Omega$ . It is easily checked that  $\tilde{f}$  and f are equimeasurable, and therefore their norms agree. It thus remains to show that

$$\sup_{\substack{A \subseteq X \times I \\ (\mu \times \lambda)(A) < \infty}} ((\mu \times \lambda)(A))^{-1/p'} \int_{A \times I} \tilde{f} \, \mathrm{d}\, \mu \leq \sup_{\substack{A \subseteq X \\ \mu(A) < \infty}} (\mu(A))^{-1/p'} \int_{A} f \, \mathrm{d}\, \mu \,. \tag{14}$$

For a given  $(\mu \times \lambda)$ -measurable set A of nonzero finite measure, define  $A_y = \{x \in X : (x, y) \in A\}$ . Fubini's theorem implies that

$$\int_{A} \tilde{f} d(\mu \times \lambda) = \int_{I} \int_{A_{y}} f d\mu d\lambda(y).$$
(15)

By the supremum we have

$$\int_{I} \int_{A_{y}} f \,\mathrm{d}\,\mu \,\mathrm{d}\,\lambda(y) \leq \int_{I} (\mu(A_{y}))^{1/p'} \,\mathrm{d}\,\lambda(y) \sup_{\substack{A \subseteq X\\ \mu(A) < \infty}} (\mu(A))^{-1/p'} \int_{A} f \,\mathrm{d}\,\mu \,. \tag{16}$$

By Fubini's theorem and Hölder's inequality

$$\int_{I} \left(\mu(A_y)\right)^{1/p'} \mathrm{d}\,\lambda(y) \le \left(\int_{I} \mu(A_y) \,\mathrm{d}\,\lambda(y)\right)^{1/p'} = \left((\mu \times \lambda)(A)\right)^{1/p'}.$$
(17)

Combining Equation (15), Equation (16), and Equation (17), we obtain Equation (14).  $\Box$ 

We end this section with some lemmata that will be needed later.

**Lemma 3.26.** If  $u, v \in S(0, \infty)^+$ , then

$$\int_0^{t_1} u^*(s) \,\mathrm{d}\, s + \int_0^{t_2} v^*(s) \,\mathrm{d}\, s \le \int_0^{t_1+t_2} u + v^*(s) \,\mathrm{d}\, s$$

for all  $t_1, t_2 > 0$ .

*Proof.* We may assume that  $\int_0^{t_1} u^*(s) \, \mathrm{d} s$  and  $\int_0^{t_2} v^*(s) \, \mathrm{d} s$  are finite. Given  $\epsilon > 0$ , it follows from Proposition 3.24 that there exists measurable sets  $A, B \subseteq (0, \infty)$  with  $\lambda(A) \leq t_1$  and  $\lambda(B) \leq t_2$ , such that

$$\int_0^{t_1} u^*(s) \,\mathrm{d}\, s \le \int_A u \,\mathrm{d}\, \lambda + \epsilon \text{ and } \int_0^{t_2} v^*(s) \,\mathrm{d}\, s \le \int_B v \,\mathrm{d}\, \lambda + \epsilon$$

This implies that

$$\begin{split} \int_0^{t_1} u^*(s) \,\mathrm{d}\, s + \int_0^{t_2} v^*(s) \,\mathrm{d}\, s &\leq \int_A u \,\mathrm{d}\, \lambda + \int_B v \,\mathrm{d}\, \lambda + 2\epsilon \\ &\leq \int_{A \cup B} (u+v) \,\mathrm{d}\, \lambda + 2\epsilon \\ &\leq \int_0^{\lambda(A \cup B)} (u+v)^*(s) \,\mathrm{d}\, s + 2\epsilon \\ &\leq \int_0^{t_1+t_2} (u+v)^*(s) \,\mathrm{d}\, s + 2\epsilon \,. \end{split}$$

Since this holds for arbitrary positive  $\epsilon$ , the result follows.

**Lemma 3.27.** If  $g_1, g_2 \in S(0, \infty)^+$  are disjoint and if  $f \in S(0, \infty)^+$  is such that  $g_1 \prec f$  and  $g_2 \prec f$ , then

$$g_1 + g_2 \prec D_2 f \,,$$

where  $D_{\alpha}f$  is the dilation of f defined by  $(D_{\alpha}f)(x) = f(x/\alpha)$ , for  $\alpha > 0$ .

*Proof.* Pick disjoint  $f_1, f_2 \in S(0, \infty)$  equimeasurable with f. Note that such functions exist:

$$f_1(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} f((x-n) \vee 0) \chi_{(2n,2n+1]}(x) ,$$
  
$$f_2(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} f((x-n-1) \vee 0) \chi_{(2n+1,2n+2]}(x) .$$

Given positive  $\epsilon$  and t, it follows from Proposition 3.24 that there exists a measurable set  $A \subseteq (0, \infty)$  with  $\lambda(A) \leq t$  such that

$$\int_0^t (g_1 + g_2)^*(s) \, \mathrm{d} \, s \le \int_A (g_1 + g_2) \, \mathrm{d} \, \lambda + \epsilon \, .$$

Define  $A_1 = A \cap \{g_1 > 0\}$  and  $A_2 = A \cap \{g_2 > 0\}$ . Since  $g_1$  and  $g_2$  are disjoint, it follows that  $A_1$  and  $A_2$  are disjoint, and so  $\lambda(A_1) + \lambda(A_2) \leq \lambda(A)$ . Using that  $g_1 \prec f_1$  and  $g_2 \prec f_2$ , in combination with Lemma 3.26, we find that

$$\begin{split} \int_{A} (g_{1} + g_{2}) \,\mathrm{d}\,\lambda &= \int_{A_{1}} g_{1} \,\mathrm{d}\,\lambda + \int_{A_{2}} g_{2} \,\mathrm{d}\,\lambda \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{\lambda(A_{1})} g_{1}^{*}(s) \,\mathrm{d}\,s + \int_{0}^{\lambda(A_{2})} g_{2}^{*}(s) \,\mathrm{d}\,s \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{\lambda(A_{1})} f_{1}^{*}(s) \,\mathrm{d}\,s + \int_{0}^{\lambda(A_{2})} f_{2}^{*}(s) \,\mathrm{d}\,s \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{\lambda(A_{1}) + \lambda(A_{2})} (f_{1}^{*} + f_{2}^{*})(s) \,\mathrm{d}\,s \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{t} (f_{1}^{*} + f_{2}^{*})(s) \,\mathrm{d}\,s \end{split}$$

Consequently,

$$\int_0^t (g_1 + g_2)^*(s) \, \mathrm{d}\, s \le \int_0^t (f_1 + f_2)^*(s) \, \mathrm{d}\, s + \epsilon \, ,$$

for all  $\epsilon > 0$  and so, for t > 0,

$$\int_0^t (g_1 + g_2)^*(s) \, \mathrm{d}\, s \le \int_0^t (f_1 + f_2)^*(s) \, \mathrm{d}\, s \, .$$

Since  $f_1$  and  $f_2$  are disjoint, it follows that, for  $\lambda > 0$ ,

$$d_{f_1+f_2}(\lambda) = d_{f_1}(\lambda) + d_{f_2}(\lambda) = 2d_f(\lambda),$$

and hence, for s > 0,

$$(f_1 + f_2)^*(s) = f^*(s/2) = D_2 f^*(s).$$

# 3.2 Marcinkiewicz spaces

Marcinkiewicz spaces are a class of rearrangement invariant Banach function spaces, indexed by a function  $\psi$ , that contains the Weak  $L^p$  spaces studied in the previous section as the special case  $\psi(t) = t^{1/p}$ .

Throughout this section, let  $\gamma \in (0, \infty]$  and let  $\psi : [0, \gamma) \to [0, \infty)$  be a concave function, which is necessarily increasing, continuous except possibly at 0, absolutely continuous on finite intervals, and differentiable except possibly on a countable set [52, Theorem 5.17]. Then the fundamental theorem of Lebesgue integral calculus [52, Theorem 5.14] gives

$$\psi(t) = \lim_{t \downarrow 0} \psi(t) + \int_0^t \psi' \,\mathrm{d}\,\lambda\,,$$

for all t > 0, where  $\psi'$  is decreasing and non-negative and can be defined on the entire real axis by setting  $\psi'(t) = \lim_{t\downarrow 0} \psi'(t)$ . It will be assumed that  $\psi$  is not the zero function.

**Definition 3.28.** Let  $(X, \mu)$  be a  $\sigma$ -finite measure space, with  $\mu(X) = \gamma$ . The Marcinkiewicz space  $M_{\psi} = M_{\psi}(\mu)$  on  $(X, \mu)$  is defined to be the fully symmetric Banach function space of all  $f \in S(\mu)$  for which the following is finite:

$$\|f\|_{M_{\psi}} = \sup_{0 < t < \gamma} \frac{1}{\psi(t)} \int_{0}^{t} f^* \,\mathrm{d}\,\lambda\,.$$
(18)

Define  $\phi: [0, \gamma) \to [0, \infty)$  by  $\phi(t) = \frac{t}{\psi(t)}$  and

$$\|f\|'_{M_{\psi}} = \sup_{0 < t < \gamma} \phi(t) f^*(t) , \qquad (19)$$

for  $f \in S(\mu)$ . Also define  $\mathbb{M}_{\psi}(s,t) = \frac{\psi(st)}{\psi(t)}$ .

To see that the Marcinkiewicz space  $M_{\psi}$  is indeed a fully symmetric Banach function space with the Fatou property, see [47, Proposition 7.10.2] and [34, Theorem II.5.2]. To find when  $\|\cdot\|'_{M_{\psi}}$  is equivalent to the norm  $\|\cdot\|_{M_{\psi}}$ , it will become necessary to determine when the function  $\frac{1}{\phi}$  is an element of  $M_{\psi}$ . The resulting condition will depend on  $\mathbb{M}$ . **Lemma 3.29.** (See [34, Lemma II.1.3]) For all s > 1 and all t > 0,  $\mathbb{M}_{\psi}(s,t) \ge 1$ . If  $\gamma = \infty$  and  $\inf_{t>0} \mathbb{M}_{\psi}(s,t) = 1$  for some s > 1, then  $\inf_{t>0} \mathbb{M}_{\psi}(s',t) = 1$  for all s' > 1.

*Proof.* The first assertion follows directly, since  $\psi$  is non-decreasing. Let s satisfy the assumption and choose s' > 1 arbitrary. If s' < s then the assertion follows trivially since  $\psi$  is non-decreasing. Assume now that s' > s, and choose t > 0 arbitrary. By concavity of  $\psi$ , the line through  $(t, \psi(t))$ and  $(st, \psi(st))$ , given by

$$t' \mapsto \frac{\psi(t)(\mathbb{M}_{\psi}(s,t)-1)}{t(s-1)}(t'-t) + \psi(t),$$

lies above  $\psi$  at s't, that is:

$$\mathbb{M}_{\psi}(s',t) \le (\mathbb{M}_{\psi}(s,t)-1)\frac{s'-1}{s-1}+1.$$

Since t was arbitrary, this implies that  $\inf_{t>0} \mathbb{M}_{\psi}(s', t) = 1$ .



#### Lemma 3.30. If

$$\inf \mathbb{M}_{\psi}(s,t) > 1 \text{ for some } s > 1, \qquad (20)$$

then  $\frac{1}{\phi} \in M_{\psi}$ . This condition is necessary if and only if  $\gamma = \infty$ .

Proof. To show sufficiency, let  $\alpha > 1$  and s > 0 be such that  $\psi(st) \ge \alpha \psi(t)$  for all t > 0. Let t > 0 be arbitrary. By applying this inequality n times, we get  $\psi(s^{-n}t) \le \alpha^{-n}\psi(t)$ . We now wish to replace the discrete n by a continuous x at the cost of one extra  $\alpha$ . To see why this is allowed, notice that since  $\psi$  is non-decreasing,  $\psi(s^{-x}t) \le \alpha^{-n}\psi(t)$  for any real  $x \ge n$ . Therefore,  $\psi(s^{-x}t) \le \alpha^{-\lfloor x \rfloor}\psi(t) \le \alpha^{-x+1}\psi(t)$ , where  $\lfloor x \rfloor$  is the largest integer below x. Replace  $s^{-x}t$  by t' and obtain: for all  $t' \le t$ 

$$\psi(t') \le \alpha^{-\log_s \frac{t}{t'} + 1} \psi(t) = \alpha \left(\frac{t}{t'}\right)^{-\log_s \alpha} \psi(t) \,.$$
We can now bound the following integral:

$$\int_0^t \frac{\psi(t')}{t'} dt' \le \frac{\alpha}{\log_s \alpha} \psi(t)$$

And we obtain:

$$\left\|\frac{1}{\phi}\right\|_{M_{\psi}} = \sup_{0 < t < \gamma} \frac{1}{\psi(t)} \int_{0}^{t} \frac{\psi(t')}{t'} dt' \leq \frac{\alpha}{\log_{s} \alpha} < \infty$$

The proof of necessity if  $\gamma = \infty$ , is contained in [34, Lemma 5.3]. To see that this condition is not sufficient if  $\gamma < \infty$ , consider a an arbitrary  $\psi$  that does satisfy Equation (20). Choose  $0 < \gamma_2 < \gamma$  arbitrary and define  $\psi_2$  to equal  $\psi$  on  $(0, \gamma_2)$  and define  $\psi_2$  to be constant  $\psi(\gamma_2)$  otherwise. In this case for  $s = \gamma/\gamma_2$  the condition in Equation (20) is satisfied, but  $\frac{1}{\phi} \in M_{\psi}$ .

**Lemma 3.31.** (See [34, Theorem 5.3]) The quasi-norm  $\|\cdot\|'_{M_{\psi}}$  is equivalent to the norm  $\|\cdot\|_{M_{\psi}}$  if Equation (20) holds. This is necessary if  $\gamma = \infty$ .

*Proof.* Note that trivially one side of the equivalence of the norms always holds:

$$f^* \text{ decreasing} \Rightarrow f^*(t) \le \frac{1}{t} \int_0^t f^* \Rightarrow \frac{t}{\psi(t)} f^*(t) \le \frac{1}{\psi(t)} \int_0^t f^* \Rightarrow \|f\|' \le \|f\|$$

For sufficiency of the other side of the equivalence of the norms, we use Hölder's inequality,

$$\int_0^t f^*(s) ds \stackrel{\text{\tiny Hölder}}{\leq} \int_0^t \frac{\psi(s)}{s} ds \cdot \sup_{s>0} \frac{s}{\psi(s)} f^*(s) \le \psi(t) \left\| \frac{\psi(s)}{s} \right\| \|f\|',$$

we obtain after division by  $\psi(t)$  and after taking the supremum, that  $||f|| \leq \left\|\frac{1}{\phi}\right\| ||f||'$ . Lemma 3.30 shows that this is bounded.

We now prove necessity, assuming  $\gamma = \infty$ . Since  $\frac{1}{\phi}$  is a decreasing function,  $\left(\frac{1}{\phi}\right)^* = \frac{1}{\phi}$ , so  $\left\|\frac{1}{\phi}\right\|' = 1$ . By equivalence of the norms,  $\left\|\frac{1}{\phi}\right\| < \infty$ , which implies by Lemma 3.30 that condition the Equation (20) holds.

Lemma 3.32. The condition in Equation (20) is satisfied if and only if:

$$\liminf_{t\downarrow 0} \mathbb{M}(s,t) > 1 \text{ and } \liminf_{t\uparrow \gamma} \mathbb{M}(s,t) > 1 \quad \text{for some } s > 1.$$
(21)

*Proof.* The 'if' part is trivial.

Assume that there exists a sequence  $(t_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  such that  $\mathbb{M}(s, t_n)$  converges to 1. Then there exists a subsequence  $(s_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  that converges to  $0 \leq t' \leq \gamma$  with  $\mathbb{M}(s, s_n) \to 1$ . By  $\liminf_{t\downarrow 0} \mathbb{M}(s, t) > 1$ and  $\liminf_{t\downarrow \infty} \mathbb{M}(s, t) > 1$ , both  $t' \neq 0$  and  $t' \neq \gamma$ . By continuity of  $\mathbb{M}$ ,  $\mathbb{M}(s, t') = 1$ , that is,  $\psi(t') = \psi(st')$ . By concavity and positivity of  $\psi$  this implies that  $\psi(t) = \psi(t')$  for all  $t \geq t'$ , which contradicts  $\liminf_{t\to\infty} \mathbb{M}(s, t) > 1$ .

An example of a concave  $\psi : (0, \gamma) \to (0, \infty)$  that does not satisfy the condition in Lemma 3.32 at  $\infty$  is  $\psi(t) = \ln(1+t)$  and similarly an example that does not satisfy the condition at 0 is  $\psi(t) = \frac{1}{\ln(1/t)}$ . An example that satisfies neither conditions is  $\psi(t) = \frac{\ln(t+2)}{t+2} \frac{1}{W(1/t)}$ , where W is the Lambert W function defined by  $W(t)e^{W(t)} = t$  for t > 0. Note also that the condition at 0 is satisfied if there exists an n such that the n<sup>th</sup> derivative of  $\psi$  at t = 0 exists and is nonzero.

## 4 The Weak $L^p$ space $L^{p,\infty}(0,\gamma)$ is Grothendieck

Lotz' objective in [40] was to prove the Grothendieck property of Weak  $L^p$  spaces. Instead of applying Theorem 2.34 directly to  $L^{p,\infty}(X)$  for arbitrary measure spaces X, first an interval of the real line with the Lebesgue measure is considered. Since in Lemma 3.22 order continuity of the dual is established, it remains to be shown that there exists a pair  $(u_0, \mathcal{G})$  imitating the action of the identity on the constant-one function of C(K). The general case follows in Section 6.

**Definition 4.1.** A measure preserving map  $\phi : X \to Y$  between the measure spaces  $(X, \mu)$  and  $(Y, \nu)$  is such that the preimages of measurable subsets  $A \subseteq Y$  are measurable and equally measured:  $\mu(\phi^{-1}(A)) = \nu(A)$ . If its inverse exists and is measure preserving as well,  $\phi$  is called a measure preserving isomorphism.

**Lemma 4.2.** For any strictly positive function in  $S(0, \gamma)$ , for  $\gamma \in (0, \infty)$ , and any a > 1, there exists a measure preserving isomorphism  $\phi$  on  $(0, \gamma)$  such that  $\lambda$ -almost everywhere  $a^{-1}f \leq f^* \circ \phi \leq af$ .

*Proof.* For  $i \in \mathbb{Z}$  define the partition  $A_i = (a^i, a^{i+1}]$  of  $(0, \infty)$  and the partitions

$$\Omega_i^f = f^{-1}[A_i] \text{ and } \Omega_i^{f^*} = f^{*-1}[A_i],$$

of  $(0, \gamma)$ . By equimeasurability,  $\lambda\left(\Omega_i^f\right) = \lambda\left(\Omega_i^{f^*}\right)$  for  $i \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Moreover,  $\lambda\left(\Omega_i^f\right) = 0$  if and only if  $\Omega_i^{f^*} = \emptyset$ , since  $f^*$  is right continuous and decreasing, Lemma 3.11. Let  $\Omega^f = \bigcup\left\{\Omega_i^f : \lambda(A_i) > 0\right\}$ . If  $\lambda\left(\Omega_i^f\right) > 0$  then there exists a measure preserving isomorphism  $\phi_i$  from  $\Omega_i^f$  onto  $\Omega_i^{f^*}$ , by [52, Theorem 12, Chapter 15 and Problem 18]. Hence there is a measure preserving isomorphism  $\psi$  from  $\Omega^f$  onto  $(0, \gamma)$  with  $\psi|_{\Omega_i^f} = \phi_i$  if  $\lambda\left(\Omega_i^f\right) > 0$ . Let now  $s \in \Omega^f$  be given and define i to satisfy  $s \in \Omega_i^f$ , then f(s) and  $f^*(\psi(s))$  are both in  $A_i$ , which implies that  $a^{-1}f(s) \leq f^*(\psi(s)) \leq af(s)$  for  $s \in \Omega^f$ . Because the assertion requires a bijection, the image of the null set  $(0, \gamma) \setminus \Omega^f$  has to be defined. Let  $N \subseteq (0, \gamma)$  be an arbitrary uncountable null set. Let  $\theta$  be a bijection from  $C = \psi^{-1}(N) \cup ((0, \gamma) \setminus \Omega^f)$  onto B. Let

$$\phi(s) = \begin{cases} \psi(s) & s \in (0, \gamma) \setminus N\\ \theta(s) & s \in N \end{cases}$$

then  $\phi$  is a measure preserving isomorphism with the desired property.

The isomorphisms  $\phi$  of the previous lemma will now be considered as bounded linear operators  $T_{\phi}$ on  $L^{p,\infty}(0,\infty)$  with  $(T_{\phi}f)^* = f^*$  by defining  $T_{\phi}f = f \circ \phi$  for  $f \in L^{p,\infty}(0,\infty)$ . The adjoints of such  $T_{\phi}$  are clearly lattice homomorphic, since  $T_{\phi}$  is invertible and bipositive.

**Theorem 4.3.** (Originally from [40, Theorem 2])  $L^{p,\infty}((0,\gamma))$  is Grothendieck, for all  $\gamma \in (0,\infty]$ .

*Proof.* We wish to apply Theorem 2.34. Order continuity of the norm of the dual has been shown in Lemma 3.22. Define  $u_0 \in L^{p,\infty}$  by  $u_0(t) = 2t^{-1/p}$  and define  $\mathcal{G}$  to be the set of all  $T_{\phi}$  with  $\phi$  a measure preserving isomorphism on  $(0, \gamma)$ .

In order to show the first requirement of Theorem 2.34, assume that  $||f||_{p,\infty} \leq 1$ , that is, by equivalence of the norms, Lemma 3.20,  $\sup_t t^{1/p} f^*(t) \leq 1$ , which implies  $f^*(t) \leq t^{-1/p}$  for all t. By Lemma 4.2 for a = 2, there exists a measure preserving isomorphism  $\phi$  such that,

$$|f|(t) \le 2f^*(\phi(t)) \le 2(\phi(t))^{-1/p} = (T_{\phi}u_0)(t)$$

which implies  $||f|| \leq T_{\phi} u_0$ . The first requirement of Theorem 2.34 is thus satisfied.

To check the second requirement in Theorem 2.34, let a disjoint sequence  $(f_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  in  $[0, u_0]$  and a sequence  $(T_{\phi_n})_{n=1}^{\infty}$  in  $\mathcal{G}$  be given. It suffices to show that  $v \equiv \sup_n f_n \circ \phi_n \in L^{p,\infty}$ . Its distribution function can be bounded by

$$d_{\sup_n f_n \circ \phi_n} \leq \sum d_{f_n \circ \phi_n} = \sum d_{f_n} \leq d_{u_0} \,,$$

where the first estimate follows from Lemma 3.23, the second equality follows from equimeasurability after composition with a measure preserving isomorphism, and the last estimate follows from disjointness. It follows that  $v^* \leq u_0^*$ , so  $v \in L^{p,\infty}$ .

## 5 When is the Marcinkiewicz space $M_{\psi}(0,\gamma)$ Grothendieck?

Proving when the Marcinkiewicz spaces have the Grothendieck property is very similar to the proof that Weak  $L^p$  spaces are Grothendieck.

As before, let  $\gamma \in (0, \infty]$  and let  $\psi : [0, \gamma) \to [0, \infty)$  be a concave function. We first determine necessary and sufficient conditions for order continuity of the norm of the dual  $M_{\psi}$  in the case  $\gamma = \infty$ , and then consider the case  $\gamma < \infty$ . After these results, the necessary and sufficient conditions for the Grothendieck property follow easily in the same way as in the previous section.

The following result is already from 1974.

**Theorem 5.1.** (Originally from [41, Teopema 4], also in [1, Theorem 8.6] on [0,1] without proof) If  $\gamma = \infty$ , then the dual of the Marcinkiewicz space  $M_{\psi}$ , has order continuous norm if

$$\inf_{t} \mathbb{M}_{\psi}(s,t) > 1 \text{ for some } s > 1.$$
(20 again)

*Proof.* To prove order continuity of the norm of the dual, we use Lemma 2.8. Let u and v thus be two mutually disjoint positive elements in the unit ball of  $M_{\psi}$ . By definition of the norm we have

$$\sup_{x>0} \frac{1}{\psi(x)} \int_0^x u^* \,\mathrm{d}\,\lambda \le 1\,,$$

and similarly for v, which means that  $\int_0^x u^* d\lambda \leq \int_0^x \psi' d\lambda$  for all x > 0, that is,  $u \prec \psi'$  and  $v \prec \psi'$ .  $\psi'$ . By Lemma 3.27  $u + v \prec D_2 \psi'$ . Since the norm is monotone with respect to submajorization, it follows that  $\|u + v\|_{M_{\psi}} \leq \|D_2 \psi'\|_{M_{\psi}}$  and it remains to show that  $\|D_2 \psi'\|_{M_{\psi}} < 2$ . By the following change of variables

$$\begin{split} \|D_2\psi'\|_{M_{\psi}} &= \sup_{x>0} \frac{1}{\psi(x)} \int_0^x D_2\psi' \,\mathrm{d}\,\lambda \\ &= \sup_{x>0} \frac{1}{\psi(x)} \int_0^x \psi'\Big(\frac{y}{2}\Big) \,\mathrm{d}\,\lambda(y) \\ &= \sup_{x>0} \frac{1}{\psi(x)} \int_0^{x/2} \psi'(z) 2 \,\mathrm{d}\,\lambda(z) \\ &= 2 \sup_{x>0} \frac{\psi(x/2)}{\psi(x)} = 2/\inf_{x>0} \frac{\psi(2x)}{\psi(x)} \,. \end{split}$$

Assuming Equation (20) and using Lemma 3.29 for s' = 2 finishes the proof.

Lemma 5.4 will show that if  $\gamma$  is finite, the lim inf of  $\mathbb{M}$  at  $t = \gamma$  is not required for order continuity of the norm of the dual. However, a similar proof as in the case of  $(0, \infty)$  does not apply, since the Marcinkiewicz space on a finite interval is not necessarily quasi-uniformly convex. The following example demonstrates this:

**Example.** Consider  $\gamma = 1$  and  $\psi(t) = 2t \wedge \frac{1}{2}$ , and define the disjoint elements  $u, v \in M_{\psi}(0, 1)$  by

$$u = \chi_{[0,\frac{1}{2}]}$$
 and  $v = \chi_{[\frac{1}{2},1]}$ .

It is clear that  $u^* = v^* = u$ . To compute the norms, we evaluate Equation (19):

$$\|u\|_{M_{\psi}} = \|v\|_{M_{\psi}} = \sup_{0 < t < \gamma} \frac{1}{\psi(t)} \int_{0}^{t} u^{*} \,\mathrm{d}\,\lambda = \sup_{0 < t < \gamma} \frac{1}{2t \wedge \frac{1}{2}} \int_{0}^{t} \chi_{\left[0, \frac{1}{2}\right]} \,\mathrm{d}\,\lambda = \sup_{0 < t < \gamma} \frac{t \wedge \frac{1}{2}}{2t \wedge \frac{1}{2}} = 1$$

Similarly we find that  $||u+v||_{M_{\psi}} = 2$ , so  $M_{\psi}(0,1)$  is not quasi-uniformly convex, so Lemma 2.8 cannot be used to prove order continuity of the norm of the dual.

To prove the converse of the of these results, we start with the following simple observation:

**Lemma 5.2.** If the dual of the Marcinkiewicz space  $M_{\psi}$  has order continuous norm, then we have  $\lim_{t\downarrow 0} \psi(t) = 0$ . If additionally  $\gamma = \infty$ , then  $\lim_{t\to\infty} \psi(t) = \infty$ .

*Proof.* The proof is by contraposition. It will be shown that  $M_{\psi}$  contains  $\ell^1$ , which suffices for a proof, since then the dual cannot have an order continuous norm, by Theorem 2.7.

First assume that  $\gamma = \infty$ . Assume thus that  $\lim_{t\to\infty} \psi(t) = L < \infty$ . Define the map  $T: \ell^1 \to M_{\psi}(0,\infty)$  by  $T(e_i) = L\chi_{(i-1,i)}$ , where  $(e_i)_{i=1}^{\infty}$  is the natural basis of  $\ell^1$ . This map is clearly a lattice isomorphism. To show that it is also an isomorphism onto its range, we will calculate the image of an arbitrary element of  $\ell_1: \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \alpha_i e_i$ . Since the sup in the definition of the norm of f on  $M_{\psi}$  will never be attained at values for t for which there exists a s > t such that f(s) = f(t), there exists an  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  such that for any  $n \geq N$ ,

$$\|T(\alpha_i)_{i=1}^{\infty}\|_{M_{\psi}} = \frac{1}{\psi(N)} \sum_{i=1}^{N} L |\alpha_{\sigma(i)}| \ge \frac{1}{\psi(n)} \sum_{i=1}^{n} L |\alpha_{\sigma(i)}|, \qquad (22)$$

where  $\sigma : \mathbb{N} \to \mathbb{N}$  is such that  $(\alpha_{\sigma(i)})_{i=1}^{\infty}$  is non-increasing. Since this holds for any  $n \ge N$ , we can also take the limit  $n \to \infty$  and obtain:

$$\|T(\alpha_i)_{i=1}^{\infty}\|_{M_{\psi}} \ge \frac{1}{L} \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} L |\alpha_{\sigma(i)}| = \|(\alpha_i)_{i=1}^{\infty}\|_{\ell^1}$$

One side of the equivalence of norms has been proven. Since for any N we bound the middle expression of Equation (22) by

$$\frac{L}{\psi(N)} \| (\alpha_i)_{i=1}^{\infty} \|_{\ell^1}$$

and since  $\psi(N)$  is bounded from below by  $\psi(1)$ , the other side of the equivalence of norms has been proven as well.

Now assume that  $\lim_{t\downarrow 0} \psi(t) = L > 0$ . Choose  $\delta = \gamma$  if  $\gamma$  is finite, and otherwise choose  $\delta = 1$ . Define  $T : \ell^1 \to M_{\psi}(0, \infty)$  now by  $T(e_i) = \frac{2^i}{\delta} \chi_{\left[\frac{\delta}{i+1}, \frac{\delta}{i}\right]}$ . The proof that this map is an isomorphism onto its range is similar to the case above.

**Proposition 5.3.** Assume  $\gamma = \infty$ . If the dual of  $M_{\psi}$  has order continuous norm, then condition in Equation (20) is satisfied.

*Proof.* Suppose that the condition in Equation (20) is satisfied. As observed in Lemma 5.2,  $\psi(0+) = 0$  and  $\psi(\infty) = \infty$ . Therefore, it follows from [19, Theorem 3.4] that there exists a positive  $u' \in M'_{\psi}$  which is *symmetric*, that is, if  $0 \leq f, g \in M_{\psi}$  and  $f \prec g$ , then  $u'(f) \leq u'(g)$ . In particular, if  $0 \leq f, g \in M_{\psi}$  and  $f^* = g^*$ , then u'(f) = u'(g).

Since  $0 < u' \in M'_{\psi}$ , there exists a norm one positive  $u \in M_{\psi}$  such that u'(u) > 0. Let  $(u_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  be a sequence of positive mutually disjoint elements in  $M_{\psi}$ , all equimeasurable with u. This implies that  $||u_n||_{M_{\psi}} = ||u||_{M_{\psi}} = 0$  and  $u'(u_n) = u'(u) > 0$  for all n. In particular,  $(u_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  does not converge to zero weakly. It follows from Theorem 2.7 that the norm in the dual is not order continuous, which is a contradiction. The proof is complete.

The following lemma considers the case  $\gamma < \infty$ .

**Lemma 5.4.** Assume  $\gamma < \infty$ . The dual of the Marcinkiewicz space  $M_{\psi}(0, \gamma)$ , has order continuous norm if and only if, for some s > 1

$$\liminf_{t\downarrow 0} \mathbb{M}(s,t) > 1.$$
<sup>(23)</sup>

*Proof.* By the conditions on  $\psi$ , there exists a  $\delta$  such that  $\psi'(\delta) > 0$ . Define  $\psi_{\delta} \in \mathcal{M}(0,\infty)$  by

$$\psi_{\delta}(t) = \begin{cases} \psi(t) & \text{if } t \leq \delta \\ \psi(\delta) + (t - \delta)\psi'(\delta) & \text{if } t \geq \delta \end{cases},$$

for t > 0. It remains to be shown that  $M_{\psi}(0, \gamma)$  and  $M_{\psi\delta}(0, \infty) \cap \mathcal{M}(0, \gamma)$  are isomorphic, since then Theorem 5.1 and Proposition 5.3 finish the proof.

Since clearly the norms of the two Marcinkiewicz spaces  $M_{\psi_1}$  and  $M_{\psi_2}$  on some finite interval  $(0, \gamma)$  are equivalent if  $\frac{\psi_1}{\psi_2}$  is bounded from above and below (in some neighbourhood of zero is sufficient),  $M_{\psi}(0, \gamma)$  is isomorphic with  $M_{\psi_{\delta}|_{(0, \gamma)}}(0, \gamma)$ .

It remains to be shown that the canonical embedding  $j: M_{\psi_{\delta}|_{(0,\gamma)}}(0,\gamma) \to M_{\psi_{\delta}}(0,\infty)$  is an isomorphism onto its range. It is trivial that  $\|j(f)\|_{M_{\psi_{\delta}}(0,\infty)} \leq \|f\|_{M_{\psi_{\delta}|_{(0,\gamma)}}(0,\gamma)}$ . We use the fact that the maximal function is decreasing, Lemma 3.16:

$$\frac{1}{\psi_{\delta}(t)} \int_{0}^{t} (j(f))^{*}(s) \,\mathrm{d}\, s = \frac{t}{\psi_{\delta}(t)} \frac{1}{t} \int_{0}^{t} (j(f))^{*}(s) \,\mathrm{d}\, s \le \frac{t}{\psi_{\delta}(t)} \frac{1}{\gamma} \int_{0}^{\gamma} f^{*}(s) \,\mathrm{d}\, s \,,$$

for  $t > \gamma$ . Using  $\psi_{\delta}(t) \ge \psi'_{\delta}(\gamma)t$  we find

$$\frac{t}{\psi_{\delta}(t)} \frac{1}{\gamma} \int_{0}^{\gamma} f^{*}(s) \,\mathrm{d}\, s \leq \frac{1}{\gamma \psi_{\delta}'(\gamma)} \int_{0}^{\gamma} f^{*}(s) \,\mathrm{d}\, s \leq \frac{\psi_{\delta}(\gamma)}{\gamma \psi_{\delta}'(\gamma)} \|f\|_{M_{\psi_{\delta}}(0,\gamma)}$$

so j is indeed an isomorphism onto its range.

**Theorem 5.5.** Let  $\psi : [0, \gamma) \to [0, \infty)$  be a concave function. Let  $0 < \gamma \leq \infty$ . The Marcinkiewicz space  $M_{\psi}(0, \gamma)$  is a Grothendieck space if and only if either

- (i)  $\gamma < \infty$  and  $\liminf_{t \downarrow 0} \mathbb{M}(s,t) > 1$  for some (or equivalently, all) s > 1 (Equation (23)), or
- (ii)  $\gamma = \infty$  and  $\liminf_{t \downarrow 0} \mathbb{M}(s,t) > 1$  and  $\liminf_{t \to \infty} \mathbb{M}(s,t) > 1$  for some (or equivalently, all) s > 1 (Equation (21)).

*Proof.* By Proposition 5.3, lemma 5.4, and theorem 5.1, the condition is equivalent with order continuity of the dual  $M'_{\psi}$ . Since this is required for the Grothendieck property of  $M_{\psi}$ , it remains to prove the Grothendieck property using the condition. We will proceed similarly as in Theorem 4.3, now using  $u_0(t) = 2\frac{\psi(t)}{t} = \frac{2}{\phi(t)}$  instead. We will apply Theorem 2.34 again with the same  $\mathcal{G}$ : the set of all  $T_{\phi}$  with  $\phi$  a measure preserving isomorphism on  $(0, \gamma)$ .

In order to show the first requirement in Theorem 2.34, assume that  $||f|| \leq 1$ , that is, by equivalence of the norms, Lemma 3.31,  $\sup_{t>0} \phi(t)f^*(t) \leq 1$ , which implies  $f^*(t) \leq \frac{1}{\phi(t)}$  for all t. By Lemma 4.2, there exists a measure preserving isomorphism  $\Phi$  such that, given an a > 1,  $|f|(t) \leq af^*(\Phi(t)) \leq \frac{a}{\phi(\Phi(t))}$ . Choose a = 2 and the first requirement is satisfied.

The verification of the second requirement in Theorem 2.34 is identical to that in Theorem 4.3.

## 6 The Grothendieck property of BFS's on arbitrary measure spaces

The main result of this section is Proposition 6.7. The proof consists of three steps, each weakening the assumptions on the measure space under consideration. The first (weakest) assumption is that the measure space is 'separable', a property introduced in the following definition.

**Definition 6.1.** The Fréchet–Nikodym pseudo-metric  $\rho$  is defined on the subset  $\Sigma_f$  of the finitely measured elements from a measure space  $(X, \Sigma, \mu)$  by  $\rho(A_1, A_2) = \mu(A_1 \triangle A_2)$  for  $A_1, A_2 \in \Sigma_f$ .

An equivalence relation  $\sim$  can then be defined on  $\Sigma_f$ , identifying sets that differ by a null set:  $A \sim B$  if and only if  $A \triangle B$  is a null set for  $A, B \in \Sigma_f$ . This measure algebra (or Boolean algebra)  $\Sigma_f / \sim$  will be denoted by  $\Sigma/\mu$ , and the metric  $\rho$  on  $\Sigma/\mu$  will be denoted as  $\rho_\mu$ .

A measure space  $(X, \Sigma, \mu)$  is called separable if its corresponding metric space  $(\Sigma/\mu, \rho_{\mu})$  is separable.

The following lemma describes how separable measure spaces appear in the proof of Proposition 6.7.

**Lemma 6.2.** (See [27, Theorem 40.B]) A countably generated  $\sigma$ -algebra with  $\sigma$ -finite measure is separable.

The following definition of an isomorphism between measure spaces is a 'modulo null sets' generalization of an isomorphism between measure spaces.

**Definition 6.3.** The measure algebras of two measure spaces  $(X, \Sigma, \mu)$  and  $(Y, T, \nu)$  are called isomorphic if a bijection  $\phi : \Sigma/\mu \to T/\nu$  exists measure preserving,  $\mu = \nu \circ \phi$ , and homomorphic w.r.t. the set operations  $\langle , \cup , \text{ and } \cap .$  In this case  $\phi$  is also called a Boolean isomorphism.

The following is a non-trivial result.

**Theorem 6.4.** (See [27, Theorem C and Exercise 6 of Section 41] or [12, 9.3.4. Theorem] for probability measures) Let  $(X, \mu, \Sigma)$  be a  $\sigma$ -finite non-atomic measure space. If the corresponding measure algebra is separable, then it is isomorphic to the measure algebra of the interval  $(0, \mu(X))$  with Lebesgue measure.

The following lemma defines for a given Boolean isomorphism from a measure algebra  $\Sigma/\mu$  to a measure algebra  $\Xi/\nu$ , a natural mapping can be defined from the corresponding space of  $\mu$ -almost everywhere finite measurable functions  $\mathcal{M}_0(\mu)$  to  $\mathcal{M}_0(\nu)$ .

**Lemma 6.5.** Let  $(X, \Sigma, \mu)$  and  $(Y, \Xi, \nu)$  be measure spaces and let  $\phi$  be a Boolean isomorphism from the measure algebras  $\Xi/\nu$  to the measure algebra  $\Sigma/\mu$ . There exists a bijective lattice isomorphism  $T_{\phi} : \mathcal{M}_0(\mu) \to \mathcal{M}_0(\nu)$  that satisfies, for  $f \in \mathcal{M}_0(\mu)$ ,

$$\{f(x) : x \in \phi(B)\} = \{(T_{\phi}f)(y) : y \in B\}$$
(24)

for all  $B \in \Xi/\nu$ , and thus  $d_{T_{\phi}f} = d_f$  and  $(T_{\phi}f)^* = f^*$ .

*Proof.* We first define this operator  $T_{\phi}$  for simple non-negative functions, and proceed like in the definition of the Lebesgue integral. Let  $f = \sum_{n=1}^{N} \alpha_n \chi_{A_n}$  be given, where each  $\alpha_i$  is a real positive constant and each  $A_n \in \Sigma$  is a  $\mu$ -measurable set. We define:

$$T_{\phi}f = \sum_{n=1}^{N} \alpha_i \chi_{\phi(A_n)} \,. \tag{25}$$

It follows from the properties of the Boolean isomorphism  $\phi$  that this definition does not depend on the specific representation of f. Substituting the expression of f as a linear combination of indicator functions into the left side of Equation (24), and the expression in Equation (25) for  $T_{\phi}f$ into the right side of Equation (24), immediately reveals equality for simple functions.

We now define  $T_{\phi}$  for non-negative measurable functions f finite  $\mu$ -almost everywhere. Let  $(s_m)_{m=1}^{\infty}$  be a sequence of positive simple functions such that  $s_m \uparrow f$ . We define

$$T_{\phi}f = \sup_{m} T_{\phi}s_m \,. \tag{26}$$

This definition clearly coincides with Equation (25) for simple non-negative functions. To see that this does not depend on the specific representation of f, let  $t_m \uparrow f$ . Let  $M \in \mathbb{N}$  be arbitrary and  $0 < \rho < 1$ . It suffices to show that

$$\sup_{m} T_{\phi} s_{m} \ge \rho T_{\phi} t_{M} \,, \tag{27}$$

since by symmetry we have the reverse inequality as well. Let  $t_M = \sum_{n=1}^N \alpha_n \chi_{A_n}$  and define  $X_m = \{s_m \ge \rho t_M\}$ . Because  $s_m(x) \uparrow f_m(x)$  for all  $x \in X$ ,  $X_m \uparrow \{f \ge \rho t_m\} = X$ . Write  $s_m = s_m \chi_{X_m} + s_m \chi_{X_m}^c$ , then

$$T_{\phi}s_m \ge T_{\phi}(s_m\chi_{X_m}) \ge \rho T_{\phi}(t_M\chi_{X_m}) = \rho \sum_{n=1}^N \alpha_n\chi_{\phi(A_n\cap X_m)} = \rho \sum_{n=1}^N \alpha_n\chi_{\phi(A_n)\cap\phi(X_m)}, \qquad (28)$$

where the last step follows since  $\phi$  is homomorphic with respect to  $\cap$ . Since  $X_m \uparrow X$  implies  $\phi(X_m) \uparrow \phi(X) = Y$ , monotone continuity from below of  $\nu$  gives that taking limits in Equation (28) yields Equation (27). We now show that Equation (24) still holds for non-negative measurable functions f, with  $(s_m)_{m=1}^{\infty}$  a sequence of positive simple functions such that  $s_m \uparrow f$ . Since for simple functions we have proven Equation (24) already, for any m,

$$\{s_m(x) : x \in \phi(B)\} = \{(T_\phi s_m)(x) : x \in B\}.$$

This clearly implies that (since  $s_m(x)$  is non-decreasing for constant x)

$$\left\{\sup_{m} s_m(x) : x \in \phi(B)\right\} = \left\{\sup_{m} (T_{\phi}s_m)(x) : x \in B\right\},\$$

which means

$$\left\{ \left( \sup_{m} s_{m} \right)(x) : x \in \phi(B) \right\} = \left\{ \left( \sup_{m} T_{\phi} s_{m} \right)(x) : x \in B \right\},\$$

which means

$$\{f(x) : x \in \phi(B)\} = \{(T_{\phi}f)(x) : x \in B\}$$

The last part of the definition of  $T_{\phi}$  is for not non-negative measurable functions f finite  $\mu$ -almost everywhere:

$$T_{\phi}f = T_{\phi}(f\chi_{\{f\geq 0\}}) + T_{\phi}(f\chi_{\{f<0\}}), \qquad (29)$$

This definition is obviously compatible with the previous definitions, and the assertion still holds.

We now show that  $T_{\phi}$  is bijective. We claim that  $T_{\phi^{-1}}$  is its inverse. First let a simple nonnegative function  $f = \sum_{n=1}^{N} \alpha_i \chi_{A_n}$  be given. The representation of  $T_{\phi}f$  as a simple non-negative function follows immediately from the definition of  $T_{\phi}$  in Equation (25). We obtain

$$T_{\phi^{-1}}T_{\phi}f = \sum_{n=1}^{N} \alpha_i \chi_{\phi^{-1}(\phi(A_n))} = \sum_{n=1}^{N} \alpha_i \chi_{A_n} \stackrel{\text{a.e.}}{=} f.$$

Now let an arbitrary non-negative function f be given. Let  $(s_m)_{m=1}^{\infty}$  be a sequence of positive simple functions such that  $s_m \uparrow f$ . It follows that  $T_{\phi}s_m \uparrow T_{\phi}f$ , so by definition, Equation (26),  $T_{\phi^{-1}}T_{\phi}f = \sup_m T_{\phi^{-1}}T_{\phi}s_m = \sup_m s_m$ . We have thus shown  $T_{\phi}$  is bijective.

It is easy to see that  $T_{\phi}$  is lattice isomorphic.

To reduce the general case of an arbitrary  $\sigma$ -finite measure space X to the non-atomic case, the method of retracts can be used, as in the proof of Lemma 3.17, but it can also be proven by considering the product measure space  $X \times [0, 1]$ . For this we then need the following lemma.

**Lemma 6.6.** (See [33, Lemma 2] and [33, Proposition 1] for the converse) Let  $(X, \Sigma, \mu)$  be a measure space and  $\Lambda \subseteq \Sigma$  a  $\sigma$ -finite sub- $\sigma$ -algebra of  $\Sigma$ . Let E be a fully symmetric rearrangement invariant Banach function space over X. The conditional expectation ('averaging operator')  $\mathbb{E}_E(\cdot|\Lambda): E \to E \cap \mathcal{M}(\mu_{\Lambda})$  defined by

$$\int_{A} \mathbb{E}_{E}(f|\Lambda) \,\mathrm{d}\,\mu = \int_{A} f \,\mathrm{d}\,\mu$$

for all  $f \in E$  and all  $\Lambda$ -measurable A with  $\mu$ -finite measure, is a well-defined contraction.

*Proof.* Since all rearrangement invariant Banach function spaces are continuously embedded in  $L^1 + L^{\infty}$ , by [11, Theorem 6.6 of chapter 2] or [34, Theorem 4.1 of chapter 4] (sometimes part of the definition of a rearrangement invariant space), it suffices to show that the conditional expectation is well-defined on  $L^1$  and on  $L^{\infty}$ .

The conditional expectation  $\mathbb{E}_1(\cdot|\Lambda)$  defined on  $L^1$  is a well-defined contraction on  $L^1$  by the Radon Nikodym theorem (see [22, p. 233D] and [22, 242J]).

To see that the conditional expectation is also a well defined contraction as an operator  $\mathbb{E}_{\infty}(\cdot|\Lambda)$ :  $L^{\infty}(\mu) \to L^{\infty}(\mu|_{\Sigma})$ , remark that  $\mathbb{E}_{\infty}(\cdot|\Lambda)$  is the adjoint of the natural embedding  $j: L^{1}(\mu|_{\Sigma}) \to L^{1}(\mu)$  ([22, 243 Notes and comments]). The defining property of the conditional expectation then follows by choosing  $g = \chi_{A} d \mu \in (L^{\infty}(\mu))'$  in the definition of the adjoint:  $\langle jf, g \rangle = \langle f, j'g \rangle$  for  $f \in L^{\infty}(\mu|_{\Sigma})$ .

Since the norm is assumed to be fully symmetric, to show  $\mathbb{E}_E(\cdot|\Lambda)$  is a contraction, it suffices to show that  $f \in E$  implies  $\mathbb{E}_E(f|\Lambda) \prec f$ . By subadditivity of the maximal function, Lemma 3.16, and by linearity of the conditional expectation,

$$\int_0^\iota (\mathbb{E}_E(f|\Lambda))^*(s) \,\mathrm{d}\, s \le \|\mathbb{E}_1(f_1|\Lambda)\|_1 + t \|\mathbb{E}_\infty(f_1|\Lambda)\|_\infty$$

where  $f_1 \in L^1$  and  $f_{\infty} \in L^{\infty}$  are such that  $f = f_1 + f_{\infty}$ . Since both  $\mathbb{E}_1(\cdot|\Lambda)$  and  $\mathbb{E}_{\infty}(\cdot|\Lambda)$  are contractions, the right-hand side can be estimated by  $||f_1||_1 + t||f_{\infty}||_{\infty}$ . By [11, Theorem 2.6 of section 2], the following formula finishes the proof: for all  $\mu$ -measurable f and all t > 0,

$$\int_0^t f^*(s) \, \mathrm{d}\, s = \inf_{f=f_1+f_\infty} \{ \|f_1\|_1 + t \|f_\infty\|_\infty \} \, .$$

We have now made all preparations to prove the main proposition of this section. However, to formulate the statement of the proposition, we first introduce for a fully symmetric Banach function space  $E(0, \gamma)$  with the Fatou property defined on  $(0, \gamma)$  with Lebesgue measure, a natural corresponding fully symmetric Banach function space  $E(\mu)$  defined on X for a given arbitrary  $\sigma$ -finite measure space  $(X, \mu)$  with  $\mu(X) = \gamma$ , by setting

$$E(\mu) = \{ f \in S(\mu) : f^* \in E(0,\gamma) \} \text{ and } \|f\|_{E(\mu)} = \|f^*\|_{E(0,\gamma)}.$$
(30)

It is well-known and easy to prove that  $E(\mu)$  is a fully symmetric Banach function space with the Fatou property (see [11, Theorem 4.9]).

		Thm. 4.3
$ig((0,\gamma),\lambda,\Lambda_{(0,\gamma)}ig)$	$E(0,\gamma)$	Grothendieck
Boolean isom. $\phi$ , Theorem 6.4	tisom. lat. isom. $T_{\phi}$ , Lemma 6.5	Ļ
non-atomic separable $(X, \mu, \Sigma)$	$E(\mu)$	Grothendieck
<b>▲</b>	<b>▲</b>	I I V
$(X' \times [0,1], \mu' \times \lambda, \Sigma' \times \Lambda_{[0,1]})$	$E(\mu'  imes \lambda)$	Grothendieck
	$\cup$ pos. contr. proj. $\mathbb{E}(\cdot \Sigma' \times \Xi)$ , Lemma 6.6	6 Cor. 1.29
$(X' \times [0,1], \mu' \times \lambda _{\Sigma' \times \Xi}, \Sigma' \times \Xi)$	$E(\mu' \times \lambda) \cap \mathcal{M}(\Sigma' \times \Xi) \text{ with } \Xi = \{[0,1], \emptyset\}$	Grothendieck
	†isom. lat. isom. $f \mapsto f \otimes 1_{[0,1]}$	Ļ
separable $(X', \mu', \Sigma')$	$E(\mu')$	Grothendieck
Lem. 6.2		
$\left(\cup_i B_i, \mu'' _{\tilde{\Sigma}''}, \tilde{\Sigma}''\right)$	$E(\mu'') \cap \mathcal{M}\left(\tilde{\Sigma}''\right)$ with $\tilde{\Sigma}'' \equiv \sigma \{B_i \cap \{f_j \geq \frac{k}{l}\}$	Grothendieck
	$ \cap \text{ closed subspace} \qquad \forall (f_i)_{i=1}^{\infty} \subseteq E(\mu') $	') <b>↓</b> Lem. 1.30
$(\cup_i B_i, \mu'', \Sigma'')$	$E(\mu'')$	Grothendieck

**Proposition 6.7.** If a Banach function space  $E(0,\gamma)$  has the Grothendieck property, then  $E(\mu)$  also has the Grothendieck property.

Proof. Step 1: Suppose first that the measure space  $(X, \Sigma, \mu)$  is separable and non-atomic. By Theorem 6.4 there exists a measure preserving Boolean isomorphism  $\phi$  from the measure algebra  $\Sigma/\mu$  of  $(X, \Sigma, \mu)$  onto the measure algebra  $\Lambda_{(0,\gamma)}/\lambda$  of  $((0,\gamma), \Lambda_{(0,\gamma)}, \lambda)$ , with  $\Lambda_{(0,\gamma)}$  the  $\sigma$ -algebra of Lebesgue measurable sets in  $(0, \gamma)$ . The isomorphism  $\phi$  induces a bijective lattice isomorphism  $T_{\phi}$ satisfying  $(T_{\phi}f)^* = f^*$  for all  $f \in \mathcal{M}_0(\mu)$ , by Lemma 6.5. From the definition of  $E(\mu)$  it follows that the restriction of  $T_{\phi}$  to  $E(\mu)$  is an isometrical isomorphism from  $E(\mu)$  onto  $E(0, \gamma)$ . Consequently,  $E(\mu)$  has the Grothendieck property.

Step 2: Suppose now that the measure space  $(X', \Sigma', \mu')$  is separable (and possibly not nonatomic). It will be shown that  $E(\mu')$  has the Grothendieck property by embedding it as a complemented subspace of the space  $E(\mu' \times \lambda)$ , where  $\lambda$  is the Lebesgue measure on [0, 1]. It is easily verified that  $\mu' \times \lambda$  is a separable measure and so, by Step 1, the space  $E(\mu' \times \lambda)$  has the Grothendieck property. Corollary 1.29 then implies the Grothendieck property of  $E(\mu')$ .

T

To be explicit we will denote by

$$E_0 = \left\{ f \otimes \chi_{[0,1]} : f \in E(\mu') \right\}$$

the image of the norm-one embedding  $f \mapsto f \otimes \chi_{[0,1]}$  from  $E(\mu')$  into  $E(\mu' \times \lambda)$ . To see that this mapping is norm-one, notice that  $(f \otimes \chi_{[0,1]})^* = f^*$ . An alternative description of  $E_0$  is given by

$$E_0 = E(\Sigma \times \Lambda_0) = E(\mu' \times \lambda) \cap \mathcal{M}_0(\Sigma, \Lambda_0)$$

where  $\Lambda_0 = \{\emptyset, [0, 1]\}$  is the indiscrete  $\sigma$ -algebra. It remains to be shown that  $E_0$  is a complemented subspace of  $E(\mu' \times \lambda)$ . By Lemma 6.6 the conditional expectation operator  $\mathbb{E}_{E(\mu' \times \lambda)}(\cdot |\Sigma \times \Lambda_0)$  is a positive contractive projection from  $E(\mu' \times \lambda)$  to  $E_0$ . This shows that  $E_0$  is a complemented subspace of  $E(\mu' \times \lambda)$ , which finishes the proof.

Step 3: Suppose finally that  $(X'', \mu'', \Sigma'')$  is an arbitrary  $\sigma$ -finite measure space. It suffices to show that for any sequence  $(f_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  in  $E(\mu'')$  there exists a closed subspace F of  $E(\mu'')$  with the Grothendieck property such that  $f_n \in F$  for all n, by Lemma 1.30.

Grothendieck property such that  $f_n \in F$  for all n, by Lemma 1.30. To this end, suppose that  $(f_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is a sequence in  $E(\mu'')$ . By  $\sigma$ -finiteness of  $(X'', \mu'', \Sigma'')$  there exists a disjoint sequence  $(B_m)_{m=1}^{\infty}$  in  $\Sigma''$  such that  $\mu(B_m)$  is finite for all m and  $X = \bigcup_{m=1}^{\infty} B_m$ . Define  $\tilde{\Sigma}''$  to be the  $\sigma$ -algebra generated by the sets

$$A_{n,m,k,l} = B_m \cap \{f_n > q\},\$$

for  $n, m, \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $q \in \mathbb{Q}$ , and let  $\mu|_{\tilde{\Sigma}''}$  be the restriction of  $\mu$  to  $\tilde{\Sigma}''$ . Since  $X = \bigcup_{m,q} A_{1,m,q}$ , it is clear that  $\left(X, \tilde{\Sigma}'', \mu|_{\tilde{\Sigma}''}\right)$  is also  $\sigma$ -finite. It is also separable by Lemma 6.2 since  $\tilde{\Sigma}''$  is generated by a countable collection. The Grothendieck property of  $E(\mu'')$  now follows from Step 2. Since all of  $\{f_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is contained in  $F \equiv E(\mu'')$ , Lemma 1.30 finishes the proof.

The next follows from a combination of Proposition 6.7 and Theorem 5.5.

**Theorem 6.8.** Let  $(X, \Sigma, \mu)$  be a  $\sigma$ -finite measure space. Let  $\psi : [0, \mu(X)) \to [0, \infty)$  be a concave function. The Marcinkiewicz space  $M_{\psi}(X)$  is a Grothendieck space if

$$\liminf_{t\downarrow 0} \frac{\psi(2t)}{\psi(t)} > 1 \ and \left(\mu(X) < \infty \ or \ \liminf_{t\to\infty} \frac{\psi(2t)}{\psi(t)} > 1\right).$$

Let  $(X, \Sigma, \mu)$  be a  $\sigma$ -finite measure space. Since the Weak  $L^p$  space  $L^{p,\infty}(\mu)$  is the Marcinkiewicz space  $M_{\psi}(\mu)$  for  $\psi(t) = t^{1/p}$ , the following is a simple corollary.

**Corollary 6.9.** If  $(X, \Sigma, \mu)$  be a  $\sigma$ -finite measure space, then  $L^{p,\infty}(\mu)$  is a Grothendieck space.

## References

- Y. A. Abramovich and A. I. Veksler, "G. ya. lozanovsky: His contributions to the theory of banach lattices," in *Function spaces (Poznań, 1998)*, ser. Lecture Notes in Pure and Appl. Math. Vol. 213, Dekker, New York, 2000, pp. 5–21.
- [2] L. Alaoglu, "Weak Topologies of Normed Linear Spaces," The Annals of Mathematics, vol. 41, no. 1, p. 252, Jan. 1940, ISSN: 0003486X. DOI: 10.2307/1968829.
- [3] C. D. Aliprantis and K. C. Border, *Infinite dimensional analysis*, Third. Springer, Berlin, 2006, pp. xxii+703, A hitchhiker's guide, ISBN: 978-3-540-32696-0; 3-540-32696-0.
- C. D. Aliprantis and O. Burkinshaw, *Positive Operators*. Dordrecht: Springer, 2006, OCLC: ocm74225146, ISBN: 978-1-4020-5007-7.
- [5] —, Principles of real analysis, Third. Academic Press, Inc., San Diego, CA, 1998, pp. xii+415, ISBN: 0-12-050257-7.
- T. Andô, "Convergent sequences of finitely additive measures," *Pacific Journal of Mathematics*, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 395–404, 1961.
- [7] S. Banach, *Théorie Des Opérations Linéaires*, 1St Edition edition. Z Subwencji Funduszu Kultury Naroldowej, Warsaw, 1932.
- [8] R. Becker, Ordered Banach spaces, French. Paris: Editions Hermann, Mar. 2008, ISBN: 978-2-7056-6721-4.
- H. Bendová, "Quantitative Grothendieck property," J. Math. Anal. Appl., vol. 412, no. 2, pp. 1097–1104, 2014, ISSN: 0022-247X. DOI: 10.1016/j.jmaa.2013.11.033.
- [10] J. J. Benedetto and W. Czaja, Integration and Modern Analysis. Boston: Birkhäuser Boston, 2009, ISBN: 978-0-8176-4306-5. DOI: 10.1007/978-0-8176-4656-1.
- [11] C. Bennett and R. Sharpley, *Interpolation of Operators*, ser. Pure and Applied Mathematics. Academic Press, Inc., Boston, MA, 1988, vol. 129, ISBN: 0-12-088730-4.
- [12] V. I. Bogachev, Measure Theory. Berlin; New York: Springer, 2007, ISBN: 978-3-540-34513-8.
- [13] H. Brezis, Functional Analysis, Sobolev Spaces and Partial Differential Equations. New York, NY: Springer New York, 2010, ISBN: 978-0-387-70913-0. DOI: 10.1007/978-0-387-70914-7.
- [14] R. E. Castillo and H. Rafeiro, An Introductory Course in Lebesgue Spaces, ser. CMS Books in Mathematics. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2016, ISBN: 978-3-319-30032-0. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-30034-4.
- [15] P. Civin and B. Yood, "Quasi-reflexive spaces," Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society, vol. 8, no. 5, pp. 906–911, 1957.
- [16] C. Costara and D. Popa, *Exercises in Functional Analysis*, ser. Kluwer Texts in the Mathematical Sciences. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands, 2003, vol. 26, ISBN: 978-90-481-6399-1. DOI: 10.1007/978-94-017-0223-2.
- [17] R. W. Cross, "A characterisation of almost reflexive normed spaces," in Proceedings of the Royal Irish Academy. Section A: Mathematical and Physical Sciences, JSTOR, 1992, pp. 225–228.
- [18] J. Diestel, Sequences and Series in Banach Spaces, ser. Graduate texts in mathematics 92. New York: Springer-Verlag, 1984, ISBN: 978-0-387-90859-5.

- [19] P. G. Dodds, B. de Pagter, A. A. Sedaev, E. M. Semenov, and F. A. Sukochev, "Singular symmetric functionals and Banach limits with additional invariance properties," *Izvestiya: Mathematics*, vol. 67, no. 6, pp. 1187–1212, Dec. 2003, ISSN: 1064-5632, 1468-4810. DOI: 10. 1070/IM2003v067n06ABEH000461.
- [20] W. F. Eberlein, "Weak compactness in Banach spaces I," Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, vol. 33, no. 3, pp. 51–53, 1947.
- [21] M. Fabian, P. Habala, P. Hájek, V. Montesinos, and V. Zizler, Banach Space Theory, ser. CMS Books in Mathematics. New York, NY: Springer New York, 2011, ISBN: 978-1-4419-7514-0. DOI: 10.1007/978-1-4419-7515-7.
- [22] D. H. Fremlin, Measure Theory. Vol. 2: Broad Foundations, 2. printing. Colchester: Fremlin, 2003, OCLC: 249091169, ISBN: 978-0-9538129-2-9.
- [23] V. Gantmacher, "Über schwache totalstetige operatoren," Математический сборник, vol. 7 (49), no. 2, pp. 301–308, 1940.
- [24] H. H. Goldstine, "Weakly complete Banach spaces," Duke Mathematical Journal, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 125–131, 1938.
- [25] A. Grothendieck, "Sur les applications linéaires faiblement compactes d'espaces du type C(K)," French, *Canad. J. Math*, vol. 5, no. 1953, pp. 129–173, 1953.
- [26] N. B. Haaser, J. A. Sullivan, and Mathematics, *Real Analysis*, First Thus edition. New York: Dover Publications, Jan. 1991, ISBN: 978-0-486-66509-2.
- [27] P. R. Halmos, *Measure Theory*, 1st ed. 1950. Corr. 2nd printing 1978 edition. New York: Springer, Feb. 1978, ISBN: 978-0-387-90088-9.
- [28] J. Howard, "A generalization of reflexive Banach spaces and weakly compact operators," Commentationes Mathematicae Universitatis Carolinae, vol. 13, no. 4, pp. 673–684, 1972.
- [29] R. C. James, "Bases and reflexivity of banach spaces," *The Annals of Mathematics*, vol. 52, no. 3, p. 518, Nov. 1950, ISSN: 0003486X. DOI: 10.2307/1969430.
- [30] W. B. Johnson and J. Lindenstrauss, "Some remarks on weakly compactly generated Banach spaces," *Israel Journal of Mathematics*, vol. 17, no. 2, pp. 219–230, 1974.
- [31] S. Kakutani, "Concrete Representation of Abstract (L)-Spaces and the Mean Ergodic Theorem," The Annals of Mathematics, vol. 42, no. 2, p. 523, Apr. 1941, ISSN: 0003486X. DOI: 10.2307/1968915.
- [32] —, "Concrete Representation of Abstract (M)-Spaces (A characterization of the Space of Continuous Functions)," *The Annals of Mathematics*, vol. 42, no. 4, p. 994, Oct. 1941, ISSN: 0003486X. DOI: 10.2307/1968778.
- [33] M. Kikuchi, "Boundedness and convergence of martingales in rearrangement-invariant function spaces," Archiv der Mathematik, vol. 75, no. 4, pp. 312–320, Oct. 2000, ISSN: 0003-889X, 1420-8938. DOI: 10.1007/s000130050509.
- [34] S. Krein, I. Petunin, and E. Semenov, Interpolation of Linear Operators, ser. Translations of Mathematical Monographs. American Mathematical Soc., 1982, ISBN: 978-0-8218-9805-5.
- [35] B. Kühn, "Schwache Konvergenz in Banachverbänden," Archiv der Mathematik, vol. 35, no. 1, pp. 554–558, 1980.

- [36] L. V. Kantorovich, B. Z. Vulikh, and A. G. Pinsker, Functional Analysis in Partially Ordered Spaces. Moscow and Leningrad: Gosudarstv. Izdat. Tecn.–Teor. Lit., 1950.
- [37] J. Lechner, "1-Grothendieck C (K) spaces," Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications, vol. 446, no. 2, pp. 1362–1371, 2017.
- [38] J. Lindenstrauss, "Weakly compact sets—their topological properties and the Banach spaces they generate," in Symposium on Infinite-Dimensional Topology (Louisiana State Univ., Baton Rouge, La., 1967), Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, N. J., 1972, 235–273. Ann. of Math. Studies, No. 69.
- [39] H. P. Lotz, "Über das spektrumpositiver operatoren," German, Math. Z., vol. 108, pp. 15–32, 1968, ISSN: 0025-5874. DOI: 10.1007/BF01110453. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01110453.
- [40] —, "Weak convergence in the dual of weak L<sup>p</sup>," Israel Journal of Mathematics, vol. 176, no. 1, pp. 209–220, Mar. 2010, ISSN: 0021-2172. DOI: 10.1007/s11856-010-0026-9.
- [41] G. Y. Lozanovskii, "Localized functionals in vector lattices," Russian, Teor. Funktsii Funktsional Anal. i Prilozhen., no. 19, pp. 66–80, 1974, (Russian).
- [42] W. A. J. Luxemburg and A. C. Zaanen, *Riesz spaces. Vol. I.* North-Holland Publishing Co., Amsterdam-London; American Elsevier Publishing Co., New York, 1971, pp. xi+514, North-Holland Mathematical Library.
- [43] P. Meyer-Nieberg, Banach Lattices, ser. Universitext. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 1991, ISBN: 978-3-540-54201-8. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-76724-1.
- [44] T. J. Morrison, Functional Analysis: An Introduction to Banach Space Theory, 1 edition. New York: Wiley-Interscience, Dec. 2000, ISBN: 978-0-471-37214-1.
- [45] M. Nakamura, "Complete continuities of linear operators," Proc. Japan Acad., vol. 27, no. 9, pp. 544–547, 1951. DOI: 10.3792/pja/1195571233.
- [46] J. M. A. M. van Neerven, "The norm of a complex Banach lattice," *Positivity*, vol. 1, no. 4, pp. 381–390, 1997, ISSN: 1385-1292. DOI: 10.1023/A:1009772704484. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1009772704484.
- [47] L. Pick, Ed., Function Spaces. Vol. 1: ... 2., rev. and extended ed, ser. De Gruyter series in nonlinear analysis and applications 14. Berlin: De Gruyter, 2013, OCLC: 827074114, ISBN: 978-3-11-025042-8. DOI: 10.1515/9783110250428.
- [48] A. Pietsch, History of Banach Spaces and Linear Operators. Boston, Mass: Birkhäuser, 2007, OCLC: ocm72149985, ISBN: 978-0-8176-4367-6 978-0-8176-4596-0.
- [49] I. Polyrakis and F. Xanthos, "Grothendieck ordered Banach spaces with an interpolation property," *Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society*, vol. 141, no. 5, pp. 1651–1661, 2013.
- [50] M. Riesz, "Sur les maxima des formes bilinéaires et sur les fonctionnelles linéaires," French, Acta Math., vol. 49, no. 3-4, pp. 465–497, 1927, ISSN: 0001-5962. DOI: 10.1007/BF02564121.
- [51] H. P. Rosenthal, "A Characterization of Banach Spaces Containing 11," Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, vol. 71, no. 6, pp. 2411–2413, Jun. 1974, ISSN: 0027-8424.
- [52] H. L. Royden and P. Fitzpatrick, *Real Analysis*. Pearson, 2010, OCLC: 988540732, ISBN: 978-0-13-143747-0.

- [53] W. Rudin, *Functional Analysis*, 2nd ed, ser. International series in pure and applied mathematics. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1991, ISBN: 978-0-07-054236-5.
- [54] H. H. Schaefer, "Banach Lattices and Positive Operators. 1974,"
- [55] G. L. Seever, "Measures on F-Spaces," Transactions of the American Mathematical Society, vol. 133, no. 1, p. 267, Aug. 1968, ISSN: 00029947. DOI: 10.2307/1994941.
- [56] V. Šmulian, "Über lineare topologische räume," German, Математический сборник, vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 425–448, 1940.
- [57] P. Tchébychef, "Des valeurs moyennes (Traduction du russe, N. de Khanikof.," French, Journal de Mathématiques Pures et Appliquées, pp. 177–184, 1867.
- [58] G. O. Thorin, "Convexity theorems generalizing those of M. Riesz and Hadamard with some applications," Comm. Sem. Math. Univ. Lund [Medd. Lunds Univ. Mat. Sem.], vol. 9, pp. 1– 58, 1948.
- [59] A. C. Zaanen, *Riesz Spaces II*, ser. North-Holland Mathematical library 30. Amsterdam: North-Holland, 1983, OCLC: 180570699, ISBN: 978-0-444-86626-4.